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SAPEX Group Limited

ACN 619 195 283

Letter from Chairman
31 December 2018
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SAPEX Group Limited

ACN 619 195 283

Directors' Report
31 December 2018

The directors present their report, together with the consolidated financial statements of the Group, being SAPEX Group
Limited (the Company) and its controlled entities, for the financial year ended 31 December 2018.

1. General information

Information on directors

The names, qualifications, experience and special responsibilities of each person who has been a director during the year
and to the date of this report are:

Peter Chambers Non Executive Chairman

Qualifications Mr Chambers holds a Bachelor of Business, majoring in finance and
accounting from the Royal Melbourne Institute of Technology
(Melbourne, Australia)

Experience Mr Chambers has over than 20 years' experience in the mining,
finance and telecommunications industries. He has extensive
experience in the development of mining and resource assets in
Indonesia and has corporate experience in Asia as previous positions
as Head of the South East Asia Communication Practice of Coopers
and Lybrand (Hong Kong) and Managing Director - Strategy and
Governance with the Rajawali Group (Indonesian based
conglomerate company). He is a current member of the Board of
Commissioners and member of the Remuneration Committee of
Indonesia’s  PT Excelcomindo Pratama (XL) which is a significant
mobile phone operator and was key person in the establishment of
the company whilst holding the position of managing director at
Rajawali Group.

Other current directorships in
listed entities

Director of Indo Mines Limited (listed on ASX)

Ronald Kenneth Larson Executive Director (Resigned 22 October 2018)

Experience Mr Larson has over 30 years experience in engineering and in Oil &
Gas industries throughout South East Asia.  He is one of the
founders of SAPEX Oilfield Services Limited and held the position of
General Manager for the company. Mr Larson has extensive board
and management experience in South East Asia with a number of
companies and had served as Deputy Director for Masco Industries
(NYSE:MAS). He has an extensive professional network in Indonesia
over the past thirty six (36) years and was instrumental in facilitating
the distribution of the Dura-Base Mat system in Indonesia through the
Indonesian agency company over the last twelve (12) years.

Other current directorships in
listed entities

None
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1. General information (continued)

Information on directors (continued)

Kyle Roy Kenneth Larson Executive Director and CEO

Qualifications Mr Larson holds a Bachelor of Arts from University of Alberta

Experience Mr Larson is the co-founder of SAPEX Oilfield Services Limited and
was also responsible for the implementation of the company’s
business development strategy to increase the introduction to, and
market penetration of the Dura-Base product. He has over 20 years
management and business development experience in South East
Asia and has held the following positions during that time: General
Manager at Marsol International Limited (Far East Division), Business
Development Manager at Zicom Equipment Pte Ltd, Business
Development Manager at PT SAS International. Additionally, his
specialized skills, knowledge and expertise in the field of business
development will be instrumental and invaluable in the Company’s
expansion into other industry sectors and geographic markets such
as Myanmar and the Philippines.

Other current directorships in
listed entities

None

Peter van Ratingen Non Executive Director

Qualifications Mr van Ratingen holds a Bachelor of Science from Murdoch
University and Post Graduate Computer Science from Curtin
University

Experience Mr van Ratingens extensive career over a 25 year period has focused
on business management and has involved holding numerous
regional and global positions in the consulting, insurance and
financial services industries. His unique Asian managerial experience
in a number of Fortune 500 companies also provides the Company’s
board with the expertise to enhance the Dura-Base product with the
networks to expand its reach within South East Asia.
His roles included the Asia Pacific Regional head of Bancassurance;
European COO for CIGNA Insurance; Country President for Chubb
Insurance, Indonesia & Philippines; and Regional General Manager
for PPG International Ltd.

Other current directorships in
listed entities

None

Arran Marshall Non Executive Director (Resigned 16 January 2018)

Qualifications Mr Marshall holds a Master of Business Administration from Auckland
University of Technology

Experience Arran has over 10 years experience in senior management and is
currently the CEO of Indo Mines Ltd. Before this he held the role of
Country Head for AWR Lloyd in Indonesia which specializes in
advising the mining and energy seectors in South East Asia.  He has
experience in the fields of business development, project
management, financial modelling, investor relations and capital
markets.

Other current directorships in
listed entities

None
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1. General information (continued)

Information on directors (continued)

Guy Markham Non Executive Director (Appointed 8 February 2018) (Resigned 29
March 2018)

Qualifications Mr Markham holds a Bachelor of Law

Experience Mr Markham is an Australian qualified lawyer with extensive
experience in the oil, gas and energy industry throughout the Asia
Pacific and Middle East regions. He has held several key positions in
a number of regional and listed companies, mostly recently, the
General Counsel, Corporate Secretary and Chief Compliance Officer
of a regional independent power producer. Mr Markham has
extensive experience in the areas of oil & gas operations both from a
service and E&P standpoint as well as in the power sector, in
particular, project development and execution amongst others. He
further has extensive experience in corporate governance and
compliance, in particular, the implementation, management and
reporting with respect to compliance and corporate governance
matters.

Other current directorships in
listed entities

None

Dan Powell Executive Director (Appointed 22 October 2018) 

Qualifications Mr Powell holds a Bachelor of Business from Curtin University,
Western Australia

Experience Mr Powell has 30 years of extensive management experience in the
banking and finance industry, from retail to institutional markets,
covering distribution, sales, marketing, strategy, product
development. He was a director of ASCALON Capital Managers, a
member of the board with Oasis Asset Management (ING Australia
Limited) and a member of the executive board at ING Australia
Limited and SEALCORP Holdings Limited. At Onevue Group, Mr
Powell was the Head of Platform Sales and Relationship
Management. Prior to Onevue Group, Mr Powell was Head of SFG
Alliance Service, Director of Corporate & IFA Distribution at AMP,
Executive Director of Sales & Marketing at ING Australia, Director of
Distribution & Sales at St George Bank (SEALCORP Holdings Ltd)
and Senior Vice President of BT Portfolio Services at BT Financial
Group. Mr Powell is currently the Head of Distribution at Nanuk Asset
Management.

Other current directorships in
listed entities

None

James Midgley Non Executive Director (Appointed 29 March 2018)

Experience Mr Midgley’s significant background and experience will bring value to
the Board and in shaping the future of the Company. Mr Midgley is a
qualified and experienced business manager specialising in shipping,
facilities, project logistics and supply chains. This is proven through a
strong track record in dealing with multifaceted businesses and large
work forces in both developed and undeveloped countries. His 14
years’ experience across South East Asia, Australia and the South
Pacific in the Mining, Oil and Gas, Government and Defence,
Infrastructure and Industrial sectors has developed a unique skill set
which makes him a valuable member within complex, project
management teams.

Other current directorships in
listed entities

None

Directors have been in office since the start of the financial year to the date of this report unless otherwise stated.
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1. General information (continued)

Principal activities and significant changes in nature of activities

The principal activities of the Group during the financial year  was the management and distribution, under licence, of the
Dura Base product in the South East Asia region. Dura Base is a product, patented in the United States of America, and
which has been extensively used in the establishment of working platforms and road infrastructure for the military, oil and
gas, mining and civil construction industries. It is a durable, all weather, interlocking composite product, which permits
flexible implementation to suit the particular needs of the user.

There were no significant changes in the nature of the Group's principal activities during the financial year.

2. Operating results and review of operations for the year

Operating results

The consolidated loss of the Group amounted to $ (2,079,241) (2017: $8,462,781), after providing for income tax.

Review of operations

A review of the operations of the Group during the financial year and the results of those operations show that the Group
incurred a net loss for the year of $2,079,241 (2017: $8,462,781) and was in a net liabilty position as at 31 December 2018
of $2,165,090 (2017: $748,219). The following summarises the Group's activities during the year:

 The Group is an Indonesian-based construction services firm operating exclusively with blue chip and top tier

mining, oil & gas, plantation and civil construction firms. The Group specializes in providing heavy lift and all terrain

access for clients operating in remote, inhospitable and often un-accessible locations for their heavy equipment &

personnel using the world's leader in Composite Mats: Dura-Base. The Group focus on specialized location access

solutions unavailable from any other service provider;

 The Group is a full service, integrated, entity enabling hassle-free solutions for their clients from top-to-bottom: from

initial FEED and design stages, through to execution and finally environmental clean-up and remediation. Mitigating

impact is a secondary benefit to the Group's clients but is often the most advertised. The Group has, since

incorporation, managed and organized thousands of location access solutions for its clients across Indonesia and

their clients include Chevron, Exxon-Mobil. Conoco-Philips, Pertamina, Repsol, Newcrest, Ophir Energy and others.

The Group holds the exclusive rights for Indonesia, Myanmar and the Philippines for the Dura-Base Composite Mat

System (manufactured by US listed firm NEWPARK Resources) and has been so since 2006; 

 The Group has employed and developed capable senior managers and engineer with extensive experience in this

highly specialized industry to ensure best-in-class services are provided consistently and with the highest degree of

satisfaction. 

3. Financial review

Financial position

The net liabilities of the Group exceeded its net assets by $2,165,090 (2017: $748,219 net liability) . This is largely due to
the following factors:

 Trade receivables was impaired by an amount of $827,814;

 Finance costs of $635,600 were expenses during the year in respect of the Groups borrowings.

4. Other items

Significant changes in state of affairs

The following significant changes in the state of affairs of the parent entity occurred during the financial year:
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4. Other items (continued)

Significant changes in state of affairs (continued)

Borrowings increased by $14,422,644 (from $257,475 to $14,680,119) as a result of financing activities for the acquisitions
during the year. This included an issue of 6,084,844 convertible notes for an aggregated value of $6,693,271 which are
convertible into ordinary shares at the option of the holder during a specific period, unless the Group lists on the ASX, in
which case the notes will automatically convert. The Group also obtained a loan for an amount of USD$3,000,000 from
Athos Asia Event Driven Master Fund (Athos) during the year, to assist with the Indonesian acquisitions.

Changes in the controlled entities and divisions:

 Acquisition of PT. SAPEX Servis Indonesia:

On 26 September 2018, the Company completed a Share Purchase Agreement to acquire the 99% of the equity
instruments of PT. SAPEX Servis Indonesia, an Indonesian based business, thereby obtaining control. 

 Acquisition of the Business and Assets from PT SAS International:

On 31 December 2018, the Company completed an Asset Purchase agreement to acquire all DURA BASE®
COMPOSITE MAT SYSTEM (Dura Base) assets and the business from PT SAS International. Consideration for the
acquisition was $6.425 million USD in cash and $2.275 million USD equivalent of fully paid ordinary shares.

The acquisitions were made to facilitate the Group's transition to a full-service owner operator of the Dura-Base®
Composite Mat System across Australia, Indonesia, Philippines, and Myanmar.

Dividends paid or recommended

No dividends have been paid or recommended during the financial period.

Events after the reporting date

On 30 January 2019 the shareholders resolved to issue 2,954,545 fully paid ordinary shares (Transferred Shares) to PT
SAS International. To complete the acquisition of the business and assets from PT. SAS International, at 31 December
2018, a company shareholder (Shareholder Group), had transferred 2,954,545 fully paid ordinary shares to PT SAS
International by way of an off-market share transfer for a fair value of $3.427,272. Upon approval of the issue of the shares
at the Shareholders meeting on 30 January 2019, PT. SAS International transferred 2,954,545 fully paid ordinary shares
back to the Shareholder Group by way of off market transfer.

Except for the above, no other matters or circumstances have arisen since the end of the financial year which significantly
affected or could significantly affect the operations of the Group, the results of those operations, or the state of affairs of the
Group in future financial years. 

Future developments and results

With numerous new clients intending to explore frontier regions in the market, it is expected that revenue will dramatically
increase. Combined with the recent acquisition of local operating partner PT. SAS International's rental fleet of Dura-Base,
the net revenue to SAPEX has improved from 20% to 80% of invoiced revenue immediately on completion of the acquisition
on 31 December 2018. 

Environmental issues

The Group's operations are not regulated by any significant environmental regulations under a law of the Commonwealth or
of a state or territory of Australia.

Company secretary

The following person held the position of Company secretary at the end of the financial year:
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Company secretary (continued)

Ms Laura Newell (LLB Hons, LLM, AGIA) resigned as company secretary on 29 June 2018 and Mr Lee Tamplin has been
appointed and has acted as company secretary since.

Meetings of directors

During the financial year, 14 meeting of directors was held. Attendances by each director during the year were as follows:

Directors'
Meetings

Number
eligible to

attend
Number
attended

Peter Chambers 14 12

Ronald Kenneth
Larson 12 10

Kyle Roy Kenneth
Larson 14 14

Peter van Ratingen 14 13

Arran Marshall - -

Guy Markham 3 3

Dan Powell 2 2

James Midgley 12 8

Indemnification and insurance of officers and auditor

No indemnities have been given or insurance premiums paid, during or since the end of the financial year, for any person
who is or has been an officer or auditor of SAPEX Group Limited.

Options

At the date of this report, there are no unissued ordinary shares of SAPEX Group Limited under option.

Proceedings on behalf of company

No person has to the court under section 237 of the Corporations Act 2001 for leave to bring proceedings on behalf of the
Company, or to intervene in any proceedings to which the Company is a party, for the purposes of taking responsibilitiy on
behalf of the Company for all or part of those proceedings.

No proceedings have been brought or intervened in on behalf of the Company with leave of the Court under section 237 of
the Corporations Act 2001.

Non-audit services

The Board of Directors is satisfied that the provision of non-audit services during the year is compatible with the general
standard of independence for auditors imposed by the Corporations Act 2001. The directors are satisfied that the services
disclosed below did not compromise the external auditor's independence for the following reasons:

 all non-audit services are reviewed and approved by the Board prior to commencement to ensure they do not

adversely affect the integrity and objectivity of the auditor; and

 the nature of the services provided do not compromise the general principles relating to auditor independence in

accordance with APES 110: Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants set by the Accounting Professional and

Ethical Standards Board.
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Non-audit services (continued)
The following fees were paid or payable to the external auditors for non-audit services provided during the year ended 31
December 2018:

2018

$

2017

$

Preparation of Investigating Accountant's Report - 18,597

Tax and corporate finance services 111,125 -

Total 111,125 18,597

Auditor's independence declaration

The auditor's independence declaration in accordance with section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001 for the year ended
31 December 2018 has been received and can be found on page 23 of the consolidated financial report.

5. Remuneration report (audited)

Remuneration policy

The remuneration policy of SAPEX Group Limited has been designed to align key management personnel (KMP) objectives
with shareholder and business objectives by providing a fixed remuneration component and offering specific long-term
incentives based on key performance areas affecting the Group's financial results. The Board of SAPEX Group Limited
believes the remuneration policy to be appropriate and effective in its ability to attract and retain the best key management
personnel to run and manage the Group, as well as create goal congruence between directors, executives and
shareholders.

The Board's policy for determining the nature and amount of remuneration for key management personnel of the Group is
as follows:

 Consultants are engaged as required pursuant to service agreements.  

 The Group ensures that fees, salaries and emoluments are in line with general standards for publicly listed

companies of the size and type of the Group.

 The Group has a policy to remunerate its directors and officers based on fixed and incentive component salary

packages to reflect the short and long term objectives of the Group.

 The salary component of non-executive and executive directors is made up of:

 fixed remuneration; and

 equity based remuneration when invited to participate by the Board in the executive share option plan of the

Company

 All key management personnel receive a base salary (which is based on factors such as length of service and

experience), superannuation, fringe benefits, and performance incentives.

 The Board reviews key management personnel packages annually by reference to the Group’s performance,

executive performance and comparable information from industry sectors.

All remuneration paid to key management personnel is valued at the cost to the Group and expensed. 

The maximum aggregate amount of fees that can be paid to non-executive directors is subject to approval by shareholders
at the Annual General Meeting (AGM), the current maximum is $ 300,000. The Board determined $300,000 to be allocated
as available for the period which was subsequently approved at the AGM held on 28 December 2018.
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5. Remuneration report (audited) (continued)

Performance conditions linked to remuneration

The key performance indicators (KPIs) are set annually, with a certain level of consultation with key management personnel
to ensure support. The measures are specifically tailored to the area each individual is involved in and has a level of control

over. The KPIs target areas the Board believes hold greatest potential for the Group expansion and profit, covering
financial and non-financial as well as short and long-term goals. The level set for each KPI is based on budgeted figures for
the Group and respective industry standards.

Performance in relation to the KPIs is assessed annually. Following the assessment, the KPIs are reviewed by the Board in
light of the desired and actual outcomes, and their efficiency is assessed in relation to the Group's goals and shareholder
wealth, before the KPIs are set for the following year.

The satisfaction of the financial performance conditions are based on a review of the audited consolidated financial
statements of the Group, as such figures reduce any risk of contention relating to payment eligibility. The Board does not
believe that performance conditions should include a comparison with factors external to the Group at this time.

Employment details of members of key management personnel

The following table provides employment details of persons who were, during the financial year, members of key
management personnel of the Group. 

The table also illustrates the proportion of remuneration that was performance based and the proportion of remuneration
received in the form of options.

The following table provides employment details of persons who were, during the financial year, members of key
management personnel of the Group. The table also illustrates the proportion of remuneration that was performance based
and the proportion of remuneration received in the form of options.

Performance based remuneration

Bonus

%

Shares

%

Options /
rights

%

Directors Position

Peter Chambers Non-executive Director and
Chairman - - -

Ronald Kenneth Larson Executive Director
(until 22 Oct 2018) - - -

Kyle Roy Kenneth Larson Executive Director and CEO - - -

Peter van Ratingen Non-executive Director - - -

Arran Marshall Non-executive Director
(until 16 Jan 2018) - - -

Guy Markham Non-executive Director
(from 8 Feb 2018 to 29 Mar 2018) - - -

Dan Powell Executive Director
(from 22 Oct 2018) - - -

James Midgley Non-executive Director
(from 29 Mar 2018) - - -

KMP

David Anderson Chief Financial Officer (CFO)
(from 6 Apr 2018) - - -

Conrad Warren Chief Operating Officer (COO)
(from 8 Jun 2018 to 24 Sep 2018) - - -

Simon Ford Country Head for Indonesia - - -
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5. Remuneration report (audited) (continued)

Employment details of members of key management personnel (continued)

Mr David Anderson was appointed CFO on 6 April 2018. My Anderson's remuneration and shareholding have been
included in this report from this date. Previously, Mr David Anderson acted as a external consultant, and remuneration
earned (and expensed) prior to this date was not in his capacity as KMP and is not required to be disclosed. Mr Anderson is
the sole director and 100% shareholder of FG Agri Pty Ltd and a director of First Guardian Holdings Pty Ltd, therefore as
they are his associates, are included in this report.

Mr Conrad Warren was appointed Chief Operating Officer on 8 June 2018 and resigned 24 September 2018. Prior to his
appointment and post appointment, Mr Warren acted as an external consultant. Mr Conrad Warren is the sole director and
100% shareholder of APAC Partners Pty Ltd.  Mayee Warren and Chris Warren are related parties and/or associates of
Conrad Warren as defined under the Corporations Act 2001. These parties are substantial shareholders of the Company.
Shareholdings and remuneration for Mr Warren and his associates are included in this report for the period he was a KMP.

Service Agreements

On appointment to the Board, all non-executive directors enter into a service agreement with the Company in the form of a
letter of appointment. The letter summarises the Board policies and terms, including remuneration, relevant to the office of
director.

In summary, each Non-Executive Director Service Agreement contains the following key terms: 

 The Director is appointed subject to the Company’s Corporate Governance Principles, Corporations Act and NSX

Listing Rules; 

 In the case of each Non-Executive Director may receive remuneration as annual fees of up to $24,000 (exclusive of

GST and superannuation entitlements); 

 If the Company terminates the Service Agreement with the Director, it must provide two weeks written notice or

payment in lieu of the notice period; 

 The Director is subject to a 12 month non-competition covenant from the date of the termination of their Service

Agreement; and 

 The Service Agreement is subject to the laws of New South Wales.

The remuneration and other terms of employment for the CEO and COO are set out in formal service agreements as
summarised below:

 Term: from listing on the NSX and to terminate on 30 June 2019;

 Remuneration: AUD$115,000

 Termination notice: 3 months

 Non-compete term: 12 months
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5. Remuneration report (audited) (continued)

Remuneration details for the year ended 31 December 2018

The following table of benefits and payment details, in respect to the financial year, the components of remuneration for
each member of the key management personnel of the Group.

Table of benefits and payments

short term
post

employment share based payments

2018

cash salary
fees

$

non monetary

$

other

$

pension and
superannuation

$

options and
rights

$

shares and
units

$ $

Directors

Peter Chambers 28,000 16,000 - - - - 44,000

Ronald Kenneth Larson 80,622 42,991 - - - - 123,613

Kyle Roy Kenneth
Larson # 92,246 42,378 - - - - 134,624

Peter van Ratingen 24,000 16,000 - - - - 40,000

Arran Marshall - - - - - - -

Guy Markham - - - - - - -

Dan Powell - 8,000 - - - - 8,000

James Midgley 1,749 23,000 - - - - 24,749

KMP

David Anderson 15,255 74,200 - - - - 89,455

Conrad Warren 7,644 86,356 - - - - 94,000

Simon Ford 82,464 - - - - - 82,464

331,980 308,925 - - - - 640,905

# Kyle Roy Kenneth Larson (CEO) received additional remuneration of $19,624 above the contracted amount of $115,000
during the year which represented payments for outstanding amounts and travel allowances owing from the previous year.

short term
post

employment share based payments

2017

cash salary
fees

$

non monetary

$

other

$

pension and
superannuation

$

options and
rights

$

shares and
units

$ $

Directors

Peter Chambers - - 12,000 - - - 12,000

Ronald Kenneth Larson 57,817 - 2,500 - - - 60,317

Kyle Roy Kenneth
Larson 66,816 - 2,500 - - - 69,316

Peter van Ratingen - - 12,000 - - - 12,000

Arran Marshall - - 12,000 - - - 12,000

124,633 - 41,000 - - - 165,633

Securities received that are not performance related

No members of key management personnel are entitled to receive securities which are not performance-based as part of
their remuneration package.
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5. Remuneration report (audited) (continued)

Key management personnel shareholdings

The number of ordinary shares in SAPEX Group Limited held by each key management person of the Group during the
financial year is as follows:

31 December 2018

Balance at
beginning

of year

No

Acquired
during the

year *

No.

Other
changes

during the
year **

No.
Balance at
end of year

Directors

Kyle Roy Kenneth Larson 2,892,961 - - 2,892,961

Ronald Kenneth Larson 2,892,961 - (2,892,961) -

Peter van Ratingen 450,000 - - 450,000

Peter Chambers 50,000 - - 50,000

Arran Marshall 50,000 - (50,000) -

Dan Powell - 80,000 - 80,000

Guy Markham - - - -

James Midgley 400,000 - - 400,000

David Anderson - 902,876 - 902,876

Conrad Warren - 2,759,246 (2,759,246) -

Simon Ford - - - -

6,735,922 3,742,122 (5,702,207) 4,775,837

31 December 2017

Balance at
beginning

of year

No.

Acquired
during the

year

No.

Other
changes

during the
year

Balance at
end of year

Directors

Kyle Roy Kenneth Larson - 2,892,961 - 2,892,961

Ronald Kenneth Larson - 2,892,961 - 2,892,961

Peter van Ratingen - 450,000 - 450,000

Peter Chambers - 50,000 - 50,000

Arran Marshall - 50,000 - 50,000

- 6,335,922 - 6,335,922

* Includes balance adjustments for persons joining as a KMP.

** Includes balance adjustments for persons leaving as a KMP.

Restricted Securities

The Directors have entered into NSX Restricted Securities Agreements whereby each party has agreed not to dispose of,
create an interest in or omit to do anything that would have an effect on the security interest over or to so omit to do any act
that would have the effect of transferring ownership or control of their Shares to any other party. The escrow arrangement
will be supported by a holding lock on their Shares, the subject of the agreements. The escrow lasts for a period up to 24
months after the Shares in the Company are quoted on the NSX. The agreements otherwise contain provisions standard for
agreements of their nature.  

KMP related party transactions

The Group undertook the following transactions with:

 Key management personnel (KMP)

12



5. Remuneration report (audited) (continued)

KMP related party transactions (continued)

 A close member of the family of that person, or

 An entity over which the key management person or family member has, directly or indirectly, control, joint control or

significant influence,

during the reporting period.

Information regarding share-based payment transactions with these persons or entities are included elsewhere in the
remuneration report.

Transactions (excluding loans)

There were no transactions with KMP except as disclosed elsewhere in the remuneration report and Note 29 Related party
transactions.

Loans made to KMP

The following information relates to KMP loans made, guaranteed or secured during the reporting period on an aggregate
basis.

Provision for bad debts

Balance at
beginning of

the year

$

Balance at the
end of the

year

$

Expense

$

Balance at the
end of the

year

$

Peter Chambers - 22,500 - -

The loan to Peter Chambers was provided on 26 September 2018. The loan is repayable on demand, unsecured, with no
terms of interest attached.

If the interest was at market interest rate in an arms length transaction, then difference in the interest charge would have
been $ 355.

End of Audited Remuneration Report

This director's report, incorporating the remuneration report, is signed in accordance with a resolution of the Board of
Directors.

Director: ...............................................................

Peter Chambers

Director: ................................................................

Kyle Roy Kenneth Larson

Dated 4 April 2019
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�

�

�

7KH�%RDUG�RI�'LUHFWRUV� RI� WKH�&RPSDQ\� 
WKH�%RDUG
� LV� FRPPLWWHG� WR� GHYHORSLQJ� D� ORJLVWLF� VHUYLFHV�
EXVLQHVV�LQ�,QGRQHVLD��0\DQPDU�DQG�WKH�3KLOLSSLQHV��VSHFLDOLVLQJ�LQ�WKH�VDOH�DQG�UHQWDO�RI�WKH�'XUD�
%DVH�� &RPSRVLWH� 0DW� 6\VWHP�� ,W� ZLOO� VHHN� WR� DFKLHYH� WKLV� WKURXJK� VWURQJ� UHODWLRQVKLSV� ZLWK� RXU�
SURMHFW� SDUWQHUV�� HPSOR\HHV�� FXVWRPHUV�� VKDUHKROGHUV�� ORFDO� FRPPXQLWLHV� DQG� RWKHU� VWDNHKROGHUV��
7KH�UHODWLRQVKLSV�DUH�EDVHG�RQ�KRQHVW\��WUDQVSDUHQF\�DQG�PXWXDO�YDOXH�FUHDWLRQ��7KHVH�
SULQFLSOHV�XQGHUSLQ�RXU�FRUSRUDWH�JRYHUQDQFH�SROLFLHV�DQG�SURFHGXUHV��
�
7KH� %RDUG� RI� 'LUHFWRUV� VXSSRUWV� WKH� 1DWLRQDO� 6WRFN� ([FKDQJH� RI� $XVWUDOLD� �16;�� &RUSRUDWH�
*RYHUQDQFH� 3UDFWLFH� QRWH� WKDW� RXWOLQHV� H[SHFWDWLRQV� E\� WKH� 16;�
KWWSV���ZZZ�QV[�FRP�DX�GRFXPHQWV�SUDFWLFH�QRWHV�31���&RUSRUDWH*RYHUQDQFH�SGI� �
�
:KLOVW�WKH�*URXS
V�SUDFWLFHV�DUH�ODUJHO\�FRQVLVWHQW�ZLWK�WKH�16;�JXLGHOLQHV��WKH�%RDUG�FRQVLGHUV�WKDW�
WKH�LPSOHPHQWDWLRQ�RI�VRPH�5HFRPPHQGDWLRQV�DUH�QRW�DSSURSULDWH�KDYLQJ�UHJDUG�WR�WKH�QDWXUH�DQG�
VFDOH�RI�WKH�*URXS
V�DFWLYLWLHV�DQG�VL]H�RI�WKH�%RDUG��7KH�%RDUG�XVHV�LWV�EHVW�HQGHDYRXUV�WR�HQVXUH�
H[FHSWLRQV�WR�WKH�16;�JXLGHOLQHV�GR�QRW�KDYH�D�QHJDWLYH�LPSDFW�RQ�WKH�&RPSDQ\�DQG�LWV�FRQWUROOHG�
HQWLWLHV��
WKH�*URXS
��DQG�WKH�EHVW�LQWHUHVWV�RI�VKDUHKROGHUV�DV�D�ZKROH��:KHQ�WKH�*URXS�LV�QRW�DEOH�
WR�LPSOHPHQW�RQH�RI�WKH�16;�5HFRPPHQGDWLRQV��WKH�*URXS�DSSOLHV�WKH�
LI�QRW��ZK\�QRW
�H[SODQDWLRQ�
DSSURDFK�E\�DSSO\LQJ�SUDFWLFHV�LQ�DFFRUGDQFH�ZLWK�WKH�VSLULW�RI�WKH�UHOHYDQW�SULQFLSOH��
�
7KH� IROORZLQJ� GLVFXVVLRQ� XWLOLVHV� WKH� $XVWUDOLDQ� 6WRFN� ([FKDQJH� �$6;�� &RUSRUDWH� *RYHUQDQFH�
&RXQFLO
V� HLJKW� SULQFLSOHV� DQG� DVVRFLDWHG� UHFRPPHQGDWLRQV� DQG� WKH� H[WHQW� WR� ZKLFK� WKH� *URXS�
FRPSOLHV�ZLWK�WKRVH�UHFRPPHQGDWLRQV��
�
'HWDLOV� RI� DOO� RI� WKH� &RXQFLO
V� 5HFRPPHQGDWLRQV� FDQ� EH� IRXQG� RQ� WKH� $6;� ZHEVLWH� DW�
ZZZ�DV[�FRP�DX��
�
�
���3ULQFLSOH�����/D\�VROLG�IRXQGDWLRQV�IRU�PDQDJHPHQW�DQG�RYHUVLJKW�%RDUG�
UROH�DQG�UHVSRQVLELOLWLHV�
�
7KH�%RDUG� LV� UHVSRQVLEOH� WR�VKDUHKROGHUV� IRU�GHYHORSLQJ�DQG�RSHUDWLQJ�D�VXFFHVVIXO� EXVLQHVV�
DQG�PD[LPLVLQJ�VKDUHKROGHU�YDOXH��
�
7KH�%RDUG�LV�UHVSRQVLEOH�IRU�HQVXULQJ�WKDW�WKH�*URXS�LV�PDQDJHG�LQ�VXFK�D�ZD\�WR�EHVW�DFKLHYH�
WKLV�GHVLUHG�UHVXOW��*LYHQ� WKH�FXUUHQW� VL]H�DQG�RSHUDWLRQV�RI� WKH�EXVLQHVV�� WKH�%RDUG�FXUUHQWO\�
XQGHUWDNHV�DQ�DFWLYH��QRW�SDVVLYH�UROH��
�
7KH� %RDUG� LV� UHVSRQVLEOH� IRU� HYDOXDWLQJ� DQG� VHWWLQJ� WKH� VWUDWHJLF� GLUHFWLRQV� IRU� WKH� *URXS��
HVWDEOLVKLQJ� JRDOV� IRU� PDQDJHPHQW� DQG� PRQLWRULQJ� WKH� DFKLHYHPHQW� RI� WKHVH� JRDOV�� 7KH�
0DQDJLQJ�'LUHFWRU�LV�UHVSRQVLEOH�WR�WKH�%RDUG�IRU�WKH�GD\�WR�GD\�PDQDJHPHQW�RI�WKH�*URXS��
�
:LWKRXW�LQWHQGLQJ�WR�OLPLW�WKH�UROH�RI�WKH�%RDUG��WKH�SULQFLSDO�IXQFWLRQV�DQG�UHVSRQVLELOLWLHV�RI�WKH�
%RDUG�LQFOXGH�WKH�IROORZLQJ��
x� IRUPXODWLRQ�DQG�DSSURYDO�RI�WKH�VWUDWHJLF�GLUHFWLRQ��REMHFWLYHV�DQG�JRDOV�RI�WKH�*URXS��
x� WKH�SUXGHQWLDO�FRQWURO�RI�WKH�*URXS
V�ILQDQFHV�DQG�RSHUDWLRQV��PRQLWRULQJ�WKH�ILQDQFLDO�

SHUIRUPDQFH�DQG�DSSURYLQJ�EXGJHWV�DQG�PDMRU�H[SHQGLWXUHV�RI�WKH�*URXS��
x� WKH�UHVRXUFLQJ��UHYLHZ�DQG�PRQLWRULQJ�RI�SHUIRUPDQFH�RI�VHQLRU�PDQDJHPHQW��
x� HQVXULQJ�WKDW�DGHTXDWH�LQWHUQDO�FRQWURO�V\VWHPV�DQG�SURFHGXUHV�H[LVW�DQG�WKDW�FRPSOLDQFH�ZLWK�

WKHVH�V\VWHPV�DQG�SURFHGXUHV�LV�PDLQWDLQHG��
x� WKH�LGHQWLILFDWLRQ�RI�VLJQLILFDQW�EXVLQHVV�ULVNV�DQG�HQVXULQJ�WKDW�VXFK�ULVNV�DUH�DGHTXDWHO\�

PDQDJHG��
x� WKH�WLPHOLQHVV��DFFXUDF\�DQG�HIIHFWLYHQHVV�RI�FRPPXQLFDWLRQV�DQG�UHSRUWLQJ�WR�VKDUHKROGHUV�DQG�

WKH�PDUNHW��
x� WKH�HVWDEOLVKPHQW�DQG�PDLQWHQDQFH�RI�DSSURSULDWH�HWKLFDO�VWDQGDUGV��
x� RYHUVHHLQJ�WKH�LQWHJULW\�RI�WKH�DFFRXQWLQJ�DQG�FRUSRUDWH�UHSRUWLQJ�V\VWHPV�DQG�WKH�H[WHUQDO�DXGLW �

SURFHVV��
x� DSSURYLQJ�WKH�*URXS
V�UHPXQHUDWLRQ�IUDPHZRUN��DQG��
x� PRQLWRULQJ�WKH�HIIHFWLYHQHVV�RI�FRUSRUDWH�JRYHUQDQFH�SUDFWLFHV��
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�

�

�

�
7KH� %RDUG� GHOHJDWHV� PDQDJHPHQW� RI� WKH� *URXS
V� UHVRXUFHV� WR� WKH� *URXS
V� H[HFXWLYH�
PDQDJHPHQW�WHDP�XQGHU�WKH� OHDGHUVKLS�RI� WKH�&KLHI�([HFXWLYH�2IILFHU�� WR�GHOLYHU�WKH�VWUDWHJLF�
GLUHFWLRQ�DQG�JRDOV�DSSURYHG�E\�WKH�%RDUG��
�
5HVSRQVLELOLWLHV�GHOHJDWHG�E\�WKH�%RDUG�WR�0DQDJHPHQW��
x� WKH�FRQGXFW�DQG�RSHUDWLRQ�RI�WKH�*URXS
V�EXVLQHVV��
x� LPSOHPHQWLQJ�FRUSRUDWH�VWUDWHJLHV��DQG�
x� RSHUDWLQJ�XQGHU�DSSURYHG�EXGJHWV�DQG�DQ�DSSURYHG�DXWKRULW\�PDWUL[��
�
7KH� *URXS� KDV� IROORZHG� 5HFRPPHQGDWLRQ� ���� E\� HVWDEOLVKLQJ� WKH� IXQFWLRQV� UHVHUYHG� WR� WKH�
%RDUG�DQG�WKRVH�GHOHJDWHG�WR�VHQLRU�H[HFXWLYHV�DV�GLVFORVHG�DERYH��
�
%RDUG�DSSRLQWPHQWV�
7KH�&RPSDQ\�ZLOO�IROORZ�5HFRPPHQGDWLRQ�����E\�HQVXULQJ�WKDW�WKH�DSSRLQWPHQW�RI�GLUHFWRUV�ZLOO�
FRPH�EHIRUH�VKDUHKROGHUV�IRU� UH�HOHFWLRQ�DW� WKH�&RPSDQ\
V�$QQXDO�*HQHUDO�0HHWLQJ��DQG�WKDW�
WKHVH�GLUHFWRUV�DUH�VXLWDEOH�IRU�WKH�*URXS�DQG�HTXLSSHG�ZLWK�WKH�NQRZOHGJH�DQG�LQIRUPDWLRQ�WR�
GLVFKDUJH� WKHLU� UROHV� DGHTXDWHO\�� ,Q� DGGLWLRQ�� WKH� &RPSDQ\� ZLOO� HQVXUH� WKDW� DOO� UHOHYDQW�
LQIRUPDWLRQ�WKDW�LW�SRVVHVV�LV�GLVFORVHG�LQ�WKH�QRWLFH�RI�PHHWLQJ�WR�HQDEOH�VKDUHKROGHUV�WR�PDNH�
D�GHFLVLRQ�RQ�ZKHWKHU�RU�QRW�WR�HOHFW�RU�UH�HOHFW�D�GLUHFWRU��
�
7KH�*URXS�KDV�IROORZHG�5HFRPPHQGDWLRQ�����E\�KDYLQJ�D�ZULWWHQ�DJUHHPHQW�ZLWK�HDFK�GLUHFWRU�
DQG�VHQLRU�H[HFXWLYH�VHWWLQJ�RXW�WKH�WHUPV�RI�WKHLU�DSSRLQWPHQW��
�
&RPSDQ\�6HFUHWDU\�
7KH�&RPSDQ\�KDV� IROORZHG�5HFRPPHQGDWLRQ� ����E\�HQVXULQJ� WKDW� WKH�&RPSDQ\�6HFUHWDU\� LV�
DFFRXQWDEOH� GLUHFWO\� WR� WKH�%RDUG�� WKURXJK� WKH�&KDLUPDQ�� RQ�DOO�PDWWHUV� WR�GR�ZLWK� WKH�SURSHU�
IXQFWLRQLQJ�RI�WKH�%RDUG��
�
'LYHUVLW\�
5HFRPPHQGDWLRQ�����VHWV�RXWV� WKDW�D�FRPSDQ\�VKRXOG�HVWDEOLVK�D�SROLF\� FRQFHUQLQJ�GLYHUVLW\�
DQG� GLVFORVH� WKDW� SROLF\� RU� D� VXPPDU\� RI� LW�� 6XFK� D� SROLF\� LV� WR� LQFOXGH� UHTXLUHPHQWV� IRU� WKH�
ERDUG�WR�HVWDEOLVK�PHDVXUDEOH�REMHFWLYHV�WR�DFKLHYH�JHQGHU�GLYHUVLW\�DQG�WR�DVVHVV�DQQXDOO\�LQ�
UHVSHFW�RI�ERWK�WKH�REMHFWLYHV�DQG�SURJUHVV�LQ�DFKLHYLQJ�WKHP��
�
7KH�%RDUG� LV� FRPPLWWHG� WR� HQJDJLQJ�GLUHFWRUV��PDQDJHPHQW� DQG�HPSOR\HHV�ZLWK� WKH�KLJKHVW�
TXDOLILFDWLRQV��VNLOOV�DQG�H[SHULHQFH�WR�GHYHORS�D�FRKHVLYH� WHDP�WKDW� LV�EHVW�SODFHG�WR�DFKLHYH�
EXVLQHVV� VXFFHVV� UHJDUGOHVV� RI� DJH�� QDWLRQDOLW\�� UDFH�� JHQGHU�� UHOLJLRXV� EHOLHIV�� VH[XDOLW\��
SK\VLFDO�DELOLW\�RU�FXOWXUDO�EDFNJURXQG��7KH�%RDUG�KDV�QRW�\HW�DGRSWHG�D�IRUPDO�GLYHUVLW\�SROLF\�
DV�LW�EHOLHYHV�LWV�FXUUHQW�SURFHVVHV�DQG�SROLFLHV�IRU�UHFUXLWPHQW�DQG�DSSRLQWPHQW�DUH�DSSURSULDWH�
DQG� DGHTXDWHO\� WDNH� LQWR� DFFRXQW� GLYHUVLW\� DPRQJVW� D� QXPEHU� RI� IDFWRUV� FRQVLGHUHG� E\� WKH�
&RPSDQ\� LQ� HQVXULQJ� LWV� 'LUHFWRUV� DQG� ZRUNIRUFH� KDYH� DQ� DSSURSULDWH� PL[� RI� TXDOLILFDWLRQV��
H[SHULHQFH� DQG� H[SHUWLVH�� 7KH� %RDUG� GRHV�� KRZHYHU�� UHFRJQLVH� WKDW� GLYHUVLW\� PDNHV� DQ�
LPSRUWDQW� FRQWULEXWLRQ� WR�FRUSRUDWH�VXFFHVV�DQG� WKH�&RPSDQ\�FRQVLGHUV�GLYHUVLW\�DV�RQH�RI�D�
QXPEHU� RI� IDFWRUV� ZKHQ� VHHNLQJ� WR� DSSRLQW� 'LUHFWRUV�� ILOOLQJ� VHQLRU� PDQDJHPHQW� UROHV� DQG�
SRVLWLRQV�DQG�UHYLHZLQJ�UHFUXLWPHQW��UHWHQWLRQ�DQG�PDQDJHPHQW�SUDFWLFHV��QRWZLWKVWDQGLQJ� WKH�
DEVHQFH�RI�D�IRUPDO�GLYHUVLW\�SROLF\��
�
$V�WKH�%RDUG�KDV�QRW�\HW�DGRSWHG�D�GLYHUVLW\�SROLF\��LW�KDV�QRW�VHW�PHDVXUDEOH�REMHFWLYHV�XQGHU�
VXFK�D�SROLF\��:KLOH�WKH�&RPSDQ\�FRQVLGHUV�GLYHUVLW\�LV�LPSRUWDQW��WKH�SULRULW\�IRU�WKH�&RPSDQ\�
ZKHQ� UHFUXLWLQJ� LV� HQVXULQJ� DQ� DSSURSULDWH� PL[� RI� TXDOLILFDWLRQV�� H[SHULHQFH� DQG� H[SHUWLVH�
UHJDUGOHVV� RI� DJH�� QDWLRQDOLW\�� UDFH�� JHQGHU�� UHOLJLRXV� EHOLHIV�� VH[XDOLW\�� SK\VLFDO� DELOLW\� RU�
FXOWXUDO� EDFNJURXQG�� 7KH� &RPSDQ\� GRHV�� KRZHYHU�� PDNH� LW� FOHDU� ZKHQ� VHHNLQJ� WR� DSSRLQW�
DGGLWLRQDO�'LUHFWRUV��VHQLRU�PDQDJHPHQW�DQG�HPSOR\HHV�WKDW�ZRPHQ�DUH�HQFRXUDJHG�WR�DSSO\�
IRU�UROHV�DQG�WKDW�WKH�&RPSDQ\�LV�DQ�HTXDO�RSSRUWXQLW\�HPSOR\HU��
�
�
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%RDUG�DQG�PDQDJHPHQW�HYDOXDWLRQ�
�
$OWKRXJK� WKH� *URXS� LV� QRW� RI� D� VL]H� WR� ZDUUDQW� WKH� GHYHORSPHQW� RI� IRUPDO� SURFHVVHV� IRU�
HYDOXDWLQJ� WKH� SHUIRUPDQFH� RI� LWV�%RDUG� DQG� LQGLYLGXDO� GLUHFWRUV� DV� SHU�5HFRPPHQGDWLRQ� ����
WKHUH� LV� RQ�JRLQJ�PRQLWRULQJ� E\� WKH� &KDLUPDQ� DQG� WKH� %RDUG�� 7KH� &KDLUPDQ� DOVR� VSHDNV� WR�
GLUHFWRUV�LQGLYLGXDOO\�UHJDUGLQJ�WKHLU�UROH�DV�D�GLUHFWRU��'XULQJ������WKH�&RPSDQ\�LQWURGXFHG�D�
5HPXQHUDWLRQ�&RPPLWWHH��2QH�RI�WKH�SXUSRVHV�RI� WKH�&RPPLWWHH�LV�WR�HVWDEOLVK�SURFHVVHV�IRU�
WKH� UHYLHZ�RI� WKH� SHUIRUPDQFH�RI� LQGLYLGXDO�'LUHFWRUV��%RDUG�&RPPLWWHHV�DQG� WKH�%RDUG�DV�D�
ZKROH� DQG� WKH� LPSOHPHQWDWLRQ� RI� VXFK�SURFHVVHV��7KH�&RPPLWWHH�ZLOO� DLP� WR� LQWURGXFH� WKHVH�
SURFHVVHV�GXULQJ�������
�
$UUDQJHPHQWV�SXW�LQ�SODFH�E\�WKH�%RDUG�WR�PRQLWRU�WKH�SHUIRUPDQFH�RI�WKH�*URXS
V�H[HFXWLYHV��
LQ�OLQH�ZLWK�UHFRPPHQGDWLRQ������LQFOXGH��
x� D�UHYLHZ�E\�WKH�%RDUG�RI�WKH�*URXS
V�ILQDQFLDO�SHUIRUPDQFH��
x� DQQXDO�SHUIRUPDQFH�DSSUDLVDO�PHHWLQJV�LQFRUSRUDWLQJ�DQDO\VLV�RI�NH\�SHUIRUPDQFH�LQGLFDWRUV�

ZLWK�HDFK�LQGLYLGXDO�WR�HQVXUH�WKDW�WKH�OHYHO�RI�UHZDUG�LV�DOLJQHG�ZLWK�UHVSHFWLYH�UHVSRQVLELOLWLHV�
DQG�LQGLYLGXDO�FRQWULEXWLRQV�PDGH�WR�WKH�VXFFHVV�RI�WKH�*URXS��

x� DQ�DQDO\VLV�RI�WKH�*URXS
V�SURVSHFWV�DQG�SURMHFWV��DQG�
x� D�UHYLHZ�RI�IHHGEDFN�REWDLQHG�IURP�WKLUG�SDUWLHV��LQFOXGLQJ�DGYLVRUV��
x� 7KH�5HPXQHUDWLRQ�5HSRUW�GLVFORVHV�WKH�SURFHVV�IRU�HYDOXDWLQJ�WKH�SHUIRUPDQFH�RI�VHQLRU�

H[HFXWLYHV��LQFOXGLQJ�WKH�&KLHI�([HFXWLYH�2IILFHU��3HUIRUPDQFH�HYDOXDWLRQ�RI�VHQLRU�H[HFXWLYHV�
ZDV�FRQGXFWHG�GXULQJ�WKH�SHULRG�LQ�DFFRUGDQFH�ZLWK�WKLV�SURFHVV��

x� :KLOVW�QRW�UHVSRQVLEOH�IRU�HVWDEOLVKLQJ�WKH�SHUIRUPDQFH�UHYLHZ�SURFHVV�IRU�H[HFXWLYHV��WKH�QHZO\�
HVWDEOLVKHG�5HPXQHUDWLRQ�&RPPLWWHH�ZLOO�EH�UHVSRQVLEOH�IRU�UHYLHZLQJ�DQG�UHFRPPHQGLQJ�WR�WKH�
%RDUG�RQ�WKH�&RPSDQ\¶V�UHPXQHUDWLRQ�IUDPHZRUN��UHPXQHUDWLRQ�SDFNDJHV�DQG�SROLFLHV�
DSSOLFDEOH�WR�WKH�PHPEHUV�RI�WKH�H[HFXWLYH�PDQDJHPHQW�RI�WKH�&RPSDQ\�DQG�ZLOO�ZRUN�ZLWK�WKH�
ERDUG�LQ�HQVXULQJ�WKDW�WKH�DSSURSULDWH�UHPXQHUDWLRQ�SDFNDJHV�DUH�LQ�OLQH�ZLWK�WKH�&RPSDQ\¶V�
H[HFXWLYH�SHUIRUPDQFH�UHYLHZV��

�
�

���3ULQFLSOH�����6WUXFWXUH�WKH�%RDUG�WR�DGG�YDOXH�
%RDUG�RI�'LUHFWRUV���&RPSRVLWLRQ��6WUXFWXUH�DQG�3URFHVV�

�
7KH� %RDUG� KDV� EHHQ� IRUPHG� VR� WKDW� LW� KDV� HIIHFWLYH� FRPSRVLWLRQ�� VL]H� DQG� FRPPLWPHQW� WR�
DGHTXDWHO\� GLVFKDUJH� LWV� UHVSRQVLELOLWLHV� DQG�GXWLHV� JLYHQ� WKH�*URXS
V� FXUUHQW� VL]H�� VFDOH� DQG�
QDWXUH�RI�LWV�DFWLYLWLHV��
�
1RPLQDWLRQ�&RPPLWWHH�
7KH�&RPSDQ\�GRHV�QRW�KDYH�D�1RPLQDWLRQ�&RPPLWWHH�KRZHYHU�LW�GLG�LQWURGXFH�D�5HPXQHUDWLRQ�
&RPPLWWHH�GXULQJ������DQG�SDUW�RI� WKH�UHVSRQVLELOLW\�RI� WKH�5HPXQHUDWLRQ�&RPPLWWHH�LQ������
ZLOO�EH�WR�FRQVLGHU�WKH�DSSURSULDWH�VL]H��FRPSRVLWLRQ�DQG�VNLOOV�RI�WKH�%RDUG���
�
6NLOOV�RI�WKH�%RDUG�
7KH�%RDUG�FRQVLVWV�RI�D�EOHQG�RI�SHUVRQDO�H[SHULHQFH�DW�GLUHFWRU�OHYHO�DQG� UHOHYDQW� FRUSRUDWH�
H[SHULHQFH�UHTXLUHG�E\�WKH�*URXS�IRU�HIIHFWLYH�GHFLVLRQ�PDNLQJ��'LUHFWRUV�DUH�DSSRLQWHG�EDVHG�
RQ� WKH� VSHFLILF� RSHUDWLRQDO�� FRUSRUDWH� DQG� JRYHUQDQFH� VNLOOV� UHTXLUHG� E\� WKH� *URXS� DQG� WKH�
&RPSDQ\� IROORZV�5HFRPPHQGDWLRQ�����E\�GLVFORVLQJ� WKH�'LUHFWRUV
�TXDOLILFDWLRQV�� H[SHULHQFH��
GDWH�RI�DSSRLQWPHQW�DQG�LQGHSHQGHQFH�VWDWXV��ZKLFK�VDWLVI\�WKH�%RDUG�VNLOO�PDWUL[�EHORZ��LQ�WKH�
'LUHFWRUV
�5HSRUW�VHFWLRQ�RI�WKH�$QQXDO�5HSRUW��
�
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$UHD� &RPSHWHQFH�

%XVLQHVV�
)LQDQFH�

%XVLQHVV�VWUDWHJ\��ILQDQFLDO�
OLWHUDF\��H[HFXWLYH�PDQDJHPHQW�

,QYHVWPHQW� &RUSRUDWH�PHUJHUV�DQG�
DFTXLVLWLRQV��FRUSRUDWH��ILQDQFLQJ��

SRUWIROLR�PDQDJHPHQW�
7HFKQLFDO� *HRORJ\��SURMHFW�GHYHORSPHQW�LQ�

WKH�FRDO�LQGXVWU\��FRDO�PDUNHWLQJ�
/HDGHUVKLS� ([SHULHQFH�LQ�SXEOLF�OLVWHG�

FRPSDQLHV�KDYLQJ�WKH�DELOLW\�EXW�
QRW�OLPLWHG�WR�VHWWLQJ�%RDUG�

GLUHFWLYHV�DQG�UHSUHVHQWLQJ�WKH�
*URXS�DSSURSULDWHO\�

�
,QGHSHQGHQW�'LUHFWRUV�
7KH�%RDUG�KDV�ILYH�GLUHFWRUV��RI�ZKLFK�D�PDMRULW\�RI�WKUHH��3HWHU�9DQ�5DOLQJHQ��-DPHV�0LGJOH\�
DQG�'DQ�3RZHOO��DUH�DVVHVVHG�DV�EHLQJ�LQGHSHQGHQW��0U�&KDPEHUV� LV�D�UHSUHVHQWDWLYH�RI� WKH�
&RPSDQ\
V�ODUJHVW�VKDUHKROGHU��,QGR0LQHV��0U�.�/DUVRQ�LV�RQH�RI�WKH�RULJLQDO�)RXQGHUV�RI�WKH�
EXVLQHVV��
�
7KH�QDPHV�RI�WKH�GLUHFWRUV�RI�WKH�&RPSDQ\�LQ�RIILFH�DW�WKH�GDWH�RI�WKLV�UHSRUW�DQG�WKHLU�OHQJWK�RI�
VHUYLFHV�DUH�DV�IROORZV��
�
0U�3HWHU�&KDPEHUV��QRQ�H[HF�&KDLUPDQ����DSSRLQWHG�0D\�������
0U�.\OH�/DUVRQ���DSSRLQWHG�0D\������
0U�3HWHU�9DQ�5DWLQJHQ��LQGHSHQGHQW����DSSRLQWHG�0D\�������
0U�-DPHV�0LGJOH\��LQGHSHQGHQW��±�DSSRLQWHG�0DUFK������
0U�'DQ�3RZHOO��LQGHSHQGHQW��±�DSSRLQWHG�$XJXVW������
�
5HJXODU�DVVHVVPHQW�RI�LQGHSHQGHQFH�
$Q�LQGHSHQGHQW�GLUHFWRU��LQ�WKH�YLHZ�RI�WKH�*URXS��LV�D�GLUHFWRU�ZKR��
x� LV�QRQ�H[HFXWLYH��
x� LV�QRW�D�VXEVWDQWLDO�VKDUHKROGHU��L�H��JUHDWHU�WKDQ�����RI�WKH�&RPSDQ\�RU�DQ�RIILFHU�RI��RU�

RWKHUZLVH�DVVRFLDWHG��GLUHFWO\�RU�LQGLUHFWO\��ZLWK�D�VXEVWDQWLDO�VKDUHKROGHU�RI�WKH�&RPSDQ\��
x� KDV�QRW�ZLWKLQ�WKH�ODVW�WKUHH�\HDUV�EHHQ�HPSOR\HG�LQ�DQ�H[HFXWLYH�FDSDFLW\�E\�WKH�&RPSDQ\�RU�

DQRWKHU�*URXS�PHPEHU��RU�EHHQ�D�GLUHFWRU�DIWHU�FHDVLQJ�WR�KROG�VXFK�HPSOR\PHQW��
x� ZLWKLQ�WKH�ODVW�WKUHH�\HDUV�KDV�QRW�EHHQ�D�SULQFLSDO�RU�HPSOR\HH�RI�D�PDWHULDO�SURIHVVLRQDO�

DGYLVHU�RU�D�PDWHULDO�FRQVXOWDQW�WR�WKH�&RPSDQ\�RU�DQRWKHU�*URXS�PHPEHU��
x� LV�QRW�D�VLJQLILFDQW�VXSSOLHU�RU�FXVWRPHU�RI�WKH�&RPSDQ\�RU�DQRWKHU�*URXS�PHPEHU��RU�DQ�RIILFHU�

RI�RU�RWKHUZLVH�DVVRFLDWHG��GLUHFWO\�RU�LQGLUHFWO\��ZLWK�D�VLJQLILFDQW�VXSSOLHU�RU�FXVWRPHU��
x� KDV�QR�PDWHULDO�FRQWUDFWXDO�UHODWLRQVKLS�ZLWK�WKH�&RPSDQ\�RU�DQRWKHU�*URXS�PHPEHU�RWKHU�WKDQ�

DV�D�GLUHFWRU�RI�WKH�&RPSDQ\��DQG�
x� LV�IUHH�IURP�DQ\�LQWHUHVW�DQG�DQ\�EXVLQHVV�RU�RWKHU�UHODWLRQVKLS�ZKLFK�FRXOG��RU�FRXOG�UHDVRQDEO\�

EH�SHUFHLYHG�WR��PDWHULDOO\�LQWHUIHUH�ZLWK�WKH�GLUHFWRU
V�DELOLW\�WR�DFW�LQ�WKH�EHVW�LQWHUHVWV�RI�WKH�
&RPSDQ\��

�
&KDLUPDQ�DQG�&(2�
7KH�UROHV�RI�FKDLUPDQ�DQG�&(2�DUH�KHOG�E\�GLIIHUHQW�SHRSOH�DV�IROORZV���
x� 3HWHU�&KDPEHUV�LV�D�1RQ�([HFXWLYH�&KDLUPDQ�
x� .\OH�/DUVRQ�LV�DQ�([HFXWLYH�'LUHFWRU�
�
0U� &KDPEHUV� LV� QRW� FRQVLGHUHG� WR� EH� DQ� LQGHSHQGHQW� QRQ�H[HFXWLYH� FKDLUPDQ�� LQ� OLQH� ZLWK�
5HFRPPHQGDWLRQ������GXH�WR�WKH�IDFW�WKDW�KH�LV�D�UHSUHVHQWDWLYH�RI�D�PDMRU�VKDUHKROGHU� LQ�WKH�
&RPSDQ\��7KH�%RDUG�LV�RI�WKH�YLHZ�WKDW�WKLV�DVVRFLDWLRQ�GRHV�QRW�DIIHFW�WKH�&KDLUPDQ
V�FDSDFLW\�
WR�EULQJ�DQ�LQGHSHQGHQW�MXGJHPHQW�WR�EHDU�RQ�LVVXHV�EHIRUH�WKH�%RDUG�DQG�KH�LV�DEOH�WR�DFW�LQ�
WKH�EHVW�LQWHUHVWV�RI�WKH�FRPSDQ\�DQG�LWV�VKDUHKROGHUV��
�
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'LUHFWRUV
�LQGXFWLRQ�DQG�HGXFDWLRQ�
,Q�DFFRUGDQFH�ZLWK�5HFRPPHQGDWLRQ����� WKH�&RPSDQ\�HQFRXUDJHV�'LUHFWRUV� WR�FRQWLQXH�WKHLU�
SURIHVVLRQDO�GHYHORSPHQW�WR�DVVLVW�WKHP�LQ�SHUIRUPLQJ�WKHLU�UROH�HIIHFWLYHO\�DQG�KDV�D�SROLF\�WR�
SURYLGH�HDFK�QHZ�'LUHFWRU�RU�RIILFHU�ZLWK�D�FRS\�RI�WKH�IROORZLQJ�GRFXPHQWV��
x� &RGH�RI�&RQGXFW��
x� &RQWLQXRXV�'LVFORVXUH�3ROLF\��
x� 6KDUH�7UDGLQJ�3ROLF\��DQG�
x� 6KDUHKROGHUV�&RPPXQLFDWLRQ�3ROLF\��
�
�

���3ULQFLSOH�����$FW�HWKLFDOO\�DQG�UHVSRQVLEO\��
&RGH�RI�&RQGXFW�3ROLF\�DQG�HWKLFDO�VWDQGDUGV�
�
$OO�GLUHFWRUV��H[HFXWLYHV�DQG�HPSOR\HHV�DFW�ZLWK�WKH�XWPRVW� LQWHJULW\�DQG�REMHFWLYLW\�LQ�FDUU\LQJ�
RXW� WKHLU� GXWLHV� DQG� UHVSRQVLELOLWLHV�� HQGHDYRXULQJ� DW� DOO� WLPHV� WR� HQKDQFH� WKH� UHSXWDWLRQ� DQG�
SHUIRUPDQFH�RI� WKH�*URXS��(YHU\�HPSOR\HH�KDV�GLUHFW�DFFHVV�WR�D�GLUHFWRU�WR�ZKRP�WKH\�PD\�
UHIHU�DQ\�HWKLFDO�LVVXHV�WKDW�PD\�DULVH�IURP�WKHLU�HPSOR\PHQW��
�
$FFHVV�WR�*URXS�LQIRUPDWLRQ�DQG�FRQILGHQWLDOLW\�
$OO�GLUHFWRUV�KDYH�WKH�ULJKW�RI�DFFHVV�WR�DOO�UHOHYDQW�*URXS�ERRNV�DQG�WR�WKH�*URXS
V�H[HFXWLYH�
PDQDJHPHQW�� ,Q� DFFRUGDQFH� ZLWK� OHJDO� UHTXLUHPHQWV� DQG� DJUHHG� HWKLFDO� VWDQGDUGV�� GLUHFWRUV�
DQG� H[HFXWLYHV� RI� WKH� *URXS� KDYH� DJUHHG� WR� NHHS� FRQILGHQWLDO� LQIRUPDWLRQ� UHFHLYHG� LQ� WKH�
FRXUVH� RI� H[HUFLVLQJ� WKHLU� GXWLHV� DQG� ZLOO� QRW� GLVFORVH� QRQ�SXEOLF� LQIRUPDWLRQ� H[FHSW� ZKHUH�
GLVFORVXUH�LV�DXWKRULVHG�RU�OHJDOO\�PDQGDWHG��
�
6KDUH�GHDOLQJV�DQG�GLVFORVXUHV�
7KH�*URXS�DGRSWHG�D�6HFXULWLHV�7UDGLQJ�SROLF\�GXULQJ������ZKLFK�UHVWULFWV�GLUHFWRUV��H[HFXWLYHV�
DQG� HPSOR\HHV� IURP� DFWLQJ� RQ�PDWHULDO� LQIRUPDWLRQ� XQWLO� LW� KDV� EHHQ� UHOHDVHG� WR� WKH�PDUNHW��
'LUHFWRUV� VKRXOG� FRQVXOW� ZLWK� WKH� &KDLUPDQ� SULRU� WR� GHDOLQJ� LQ� VHFXULWLHV� LQ� WKH� &RPSDQ\� RU�
RWKHU�FRPSDQLHV�ZLWK�ZKLFK�WKH�&RPSDQ\�KDV�D�UHODWLRQVKLS��
�
6KDUH� WUDGLQJ�E\�GLUHFWRUV��H[HFXWLYHV�RU�HPSOR\HHV� LV�QRW�SHUPLWWHG�DW�DQ\� OLPH�ZKLOVW� LQ� WKH�
SRVVHVVLRQ� RI� SULFH� VHQVLWLYH� LQIRUPDWLRQ� QRW� DOUHDG\� DYDLODEOH� WR� WKH�PDUNHW�� ,Q� DGGLWLRQ�� WKH�
&RUSRUDWLRQV�$FW�SURKLELWV�WKH�SXUFKDVH�RU�VDOH�RI�VHFXULWLHV�ZKLOVW�D�SHUVRQ�LV�LQ�SRVVHVVLRQ�RI�
LQVLGH�LQIRUPDWLRQ��
�
,Q�DGGLWLRQ�WR�WKH�DERYH��'LUHFWRUV�PXVW�QRWLI\�WKH�&RPSDQ\�6HFUHWDU\�DV�VRRQ�DV�SUDFWLFDEOH��
EXW�QRW�ODWHU�WKDQ���EXVLQHVV�GD\V��DIWHU�WKH\�KDYH�ERXJKW�RU�VROG�WKH�&RPSDQ\
V�VHFXULWLHV�RU�
H[HUFLVHG� RSWLRQV�� ,Q� DFFRUGDQFH� ZLWK� WKH� SURYLVLRQV� RI� WKH� &RUSRUDWLRQV� $FW� DQG� WKH� /LVWLQJ�
5XOHV� RI� WKH� 16;�� WKH� &RPSDQ\� RQ� EHKDOI� RI� WKH� 'LUHFWRUV� PXVW� DGYLVH� WKH� 16;� RI� DQ\�
WUDQVDFWLRQV�FRQGXFWHG�E\�WKHP�LQ�WKH�VHFXULWLHV�RI�WKH�&RPSDQ\��
�
%UHDFKHV�RI� WKLV�SROLF\�ZLOO�EH� VXEMHFW� WR�GLVFLSOLQDU\�DFWLRQ��ZKLFK�PD\� LQFOXGH� WHUPLQDWLRQ�RI�
HPSOR\PHQW��
�
7KHVH�UHVWULFWLRQV�KDYH�EHHQ�GHYHORSHG�KDYLQJ�UHJDUG�WR�WKH�FXUUHQW�QDWXUH�RI�WKH�&RPSDQ\
V�
DFWLYLWLHV�� EHLQJ� UHQWDO� DQG� VDOH� RI� FRPSRVLWH� PDW� V\VWHPV� WR� H[SORUDWLRQ� DQG� SURGXFWLRQ�
FRPSDQLHV��
�
&RQIOLFWV�RI�LQWHUHVW�
7R�HQVXUH�WKDW�GLUHFWRUV�DUH�DW�DOO�WLPHV�DFWLQJ�LQ�WKH�EHVW�LQWHUHVWV�RI�WKH�*URXS��GLUHFWRUV�PXVW��
x� GLVFORVH�WR�WKH�%RDUG�DFWXDO�RU�SRWHQWLDO�FRQIOLFWV�RI�LQWHUHVW�WKDW�PD\�RU�PLJKW�UHDVRQDEO\�EH�

WKRXJKW�WR�H[LVW�EHWZHHQ�WKH�LQWHUHVWV�RI�WKH�GLUHFWRU�DQG�WKH�LQWHUHVWV�RI�DQ\�RWKHU�SDUWLHV�LQ�
FDUU\LQJ�RXW�WKH�DFWLYLWLHV�RI�WKH�*URXS��DQG�

x� LI�UHTXHVWHG�E\�WKH�%RDUG��ZLWKLQ�VHYHQ�GD\V�RU�VXFK�IXUWKHU�SHULRG�DV�PD\�EH�SHUPLWWHG��WDNH�
VXFK�QHFHVVDU\�DQG�UHDVRQDEOH�VWHSV�WR�UHPRYH�DQ\�FRQIOLFW�RI�LQWHUHVW��
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,I� D� GLUHFWRU� FDQQRW�� RU� LV� XQZLOOLQJ� WR� UHPRYH� D� FRQIOLFW� RI� LQWHUHVW� WKHQ� WKH� GLUHFWRU�PXVW�� DV�
UHTXLUHG�E\�WKH�&RUSRUDWLRQV�$FW��DEVHQW�KLPVHOI�IURP�WKH�URRP�ZKHQ�%RDUG�GLVFXVVLRQ�DQG�RU�
YRWLQJ�RFFXUV�RQ�PDWWHUV�DERXW�ZKLFK�WKH�FRQIOLFW�UHODWHV��
�
5HODWHG�SDUW\�WUDQVDFWLRQV�
5HODWHG�SDUW\� WUDQVDFWLRQV� LQFOXGH�DQ\� ILQDQFLDO� WUDQVDFWLRQ�EHWZHHQ�D�GLUHFWRU�DQG� WKH�*URXS�
DV� GHILQHG� LQ� WKH� &RUSRUDWLRQV� $FW� RU� WKH� 16;� /LVWLQJ� 5XOHV�� 8QOHVV� WKHUH� LV� DQ� H[HPSWLRQ�
XQGHU�WKH�&RUSRUDWLRQV�$FW�IURP�WKH�UHTXLUHPHQW�WR�REWDLQ�VKDUHKROGHU�DSSURYDO�IRU�WKH�UHODWHG�
SDUW\�WUDQVDFWLRQ��WKH�%RDUG�FDQQRW�DSSURYH�WKH�WUDQVDFWLRQ��7KH�*URXS�DOVR�GLVFORVHV�UHODWHG�
SDUW\�WUDQVDFWLRQV�LQ�LWV�ILQDQFLDO�VWDWHPHQWV�DV�UHTXLUHG�XQGHU�UHOHYDQW�$FFRXQWLQJ�6WDQGDUGV��
�
�

���3ULQFLSOH�����6DIHJXDUG�LQWHJULW\�LQ�ILQDQFLDO�UHSRUWLQJ�
�
$XGLW�&RPPLWWHH�
'XULQJ� ����� WKH� &RPSDQ\� LQWURGXFHG� DQ� $XGLW� &RPPLWWHH� WR� DVVLVW� WKH� %RDUG� LQ� IXOILOOLQJ� LWV�
FRUSRUDWH�JRYHUQDQFH�DQG�RYHUVLJKW�UHVSRQVLELOLWLHV�LQ�UHODWLQJ�WR��
x� 7KH�LQWHJULW\�RI�WKH�&RPSDQ\¶V�ILQDQFLDO�UHSRUWLQJ��
x� 7KH�HIIHFWLYHQHVV�RI�WKH�&RPSDQ\¶V�V\VWHPV�RI�ILQDQFLDO�ULVN�PDQDJHPHQW�DQG�LQWHUQDO�FRQWURO��

DQG�
x� 7KH�H[WHUQDO�DXGLW�IXQFWLRQV��
�
7KH�$XGLW�&RPPLWWHH�LV�FRPSULVHG�RI�WKH�IROORZLQJ�PHPEHUV��
x� 0U�'DQ�3RZHOO��&KDLU�RI�&RPPLWWHH��
x� 0U�3HWHU�&KDPEHUV�
x� 0U�-DPHV�0LGJOH\�
�
$OO�PHPEHUV�DUH�QRQ�H[HFXWLYH� GLUHFWRUV�DQG�0U�'DQ�3RZHOO� DQG�0U�-DPHV�0LGJOH\�DUH� DOVR�
LQGHSHQGHQW���
�
$� FRS\� RI� WKH� $XGLW� &RPPLWWHH� &KDUWHU� LV� DYDLODEOH� RQ� WKH� &RPSDQ\¶V� ZHEVLWH� DW��
KWWS���VDSH[JURXS�FRP�FRUSRUDWHBSROLFLHV�SKS��
�
&(2�DQG�&)2�GHFODUDWLRQV�
7KH�%RDUG�KDV�� LQ� OLQH�ZLWK�5HFRPPHQGDWLRQ������EHIRUH� DSSURYLQJ� ILQDQFLDO�VWDWHPHQWV� IRU�D�
ILQDQFLDO� SHULRG�� UHFHLYHG� WKH� &(2
V� GHFODUDWLRQ� DV� UHTXLUHG� XQGHU� VHFWLRQ� ���$� RI� WKH�
&RUSRUDWLRQV�$FW��)XUWKHU�WKH�&(2�KDV�GHFODUHG�WKHLU�RSLQLRQ�KDV�EHHQ�IRUPHG�RQ�WKH�EDVLV�RI�
D�VRXQG�V\VWHP�RI�ULVN�PDQDJHPHQW�DQG�LQWHUQDO�FRQWURO�WKDW�LV�RSHUDWLQJ�HIIHFWLYHO\���
�
$XGLWRU�DWWHQGDQFH�DW�$QQXDO�*HQHUDO�0HHWLQJ�
7KH� *URXS� ZLOO� IROORZ� 5HFRPPHQGDWLRQ� ���� DQG� HQVXUH� WKDW� D� UHSUHVHQWDWLYH� RI� LWV� H[WHUQDO�
DXGLWRU� 3.)� ZLOO� DWWHQG� WKH� &RPSDQ\
V� $QQXDO� *HQHUDO� 0HHWLQJ� DQG� LV� DYDLODEOH� WR� DQVZHU�
TXHVWLRQV�IURP�VHFXULW\�KROGHUV�UHOHYDQW�WR�WKH�DXGLW��
�
�

���3ULQFLSOH�����0DNH�WLPHO\�DQG�EDODQFHG�GLVFORVXUH�
�
&RQWLQXRXV�'LVFORVXUH�WR�WKH�16;�
7KH� %RDUG� KDV� GHVLJQDWHG� WKH� &KDLUPDQ� DQG� &RPSDQ\� 6HFUHWDU\� DV� EHLQJ� UHVSRQVLEOH� IRU�
RYHUVHHLQJ� DQG� FR�RUGLQDWLQJ� GLVFORVXUH� RI� LQIRUPDWLRQ� WR� WKH�16;�DV�ZHOO� DV� FRPPXQLFDWLQJ�
ZLWK�WKH�16;��$FFRUGLQJO\��WKH�&RPSDQ\�ZLOO�QRWLI\�WKH�16;�SURPSWO\�RI�LQIRUPDWLRQ��
x� FRQFHUQLQJ�WKH�&RPSDQ\��WKDW�D�UHDVRQDEOH�SHUVRQ�ZRXOG�H[SHFW�WR�KDYH�D�PDWHULDO�HIIHFW�RQ�

WKH�SULFH�RU�YDOXH�RI�WKH�&RPSDQ\
V�VHFXULWLHV��DQG�
x� WKDW�ZRXOG��RU�ZRXOG�EH�OLNHO\�WR��LQIOXHQFH�SHUVRQV�ZKR�FRPPRQO\�LQYHVW�LQ�VHFXULWLHV�LQ�GHFLGLQJ�

ZKHWKHU�WR�DFTXLUH�RU�GLVSRVH�RI�WKH�&RPSDQ\
V�VHFXULWLHV��
�
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$QQRXQFHPHQWV�DUH�PDGH�LQ�D�WLPHO\�PDQQHU��DUH�IDFWXDO�DQG�GR�QRW�RPLW�PDWHULDO�LQIRUPDWLRQ�
LQ�RUGHU�WR�DYRLG�WKH�HPHUJHQFH�RI�D�IDOVH�PDUNHW�LQ�WKH�&RPSDQ\
V�VHFXULWLHV��
�
�

���3ULQFLSOH�����5HVSHFW�WKH�ULJKWV�RI�VHFXULW\�KROGHU�
�
7KH�&RPSDQ\� KDV� IROORZHG�5HFRPPHQGDWLRQ� ���� E\� NHHSLQJ� LQYHVWRUV� LQIRUPHG� WKURXJK� WKH�
&RPSDQ\
V� �ZHEVLWH� �ZZZ�VDSH[VHUYLFHV�FRP��DQG�RQ� WKH� �16;� �ZHEVLWH�� �ZZZ�QV[�FRP�DX��
XQGHU�16;�FRGH�
6$$
�UHJDUGLQJ�LQIRUPDWLRQ�DERXW�WKH�*URXS��WKH�%RDUG��SROLFLHV��UHSRUWV�DQG�
16;�DQQRXQFHPHQWV��
�
7KH� &RPSDQ\� KDV� IROORZHG� 5HFRPPHQGDWLRQV� ���� DQG� ���� E\� GHVLJQLQJ� D� FRPPXQLFDWLRQV�
SURJUDP� WR� SURPRWH� HIIHFWLYH� FRPPXQLFDWLRQ� ZLWK� VKDUHKROGHUV� DQG� WR� HQFRXUDJH� WKHLU�
SDUWLFLSDWLRQ�DW�JHQHUDO�PHHWLQJV��
�
7KH� %RDUG� UHFRJQLVHV� LWV� GXW\� WR� HQVXUH� WKDW� LWV� VKDUHKROGHUV� DUH� LQIRUPHG� RI� DOO� PDMRU�
GHYHORSPHQWV� DIIHFWLQJ� WKH� *URXS
V� VWDWH� RI� DIIDLUV�� ,QIRUPDWLRQ� LV� FRPPXQLFDWHG� WR�
VKDUHKROGHUV�DQG�WKH�PDUNHW�WKURXJK��
x� WKH�$QQXDO�5HSRUW�ZKLFK�LV�GLVWULEXWHG�WR�VKDUHKROGHUV��XVXDOO\�ZLWK�WKH�1RWLFH�RI�$QQXDO�
x� *HQHUDO�0HHWLQJ���
x� WKH�$QQXDO�*HQHUDO�0HHWLQJ�DQG�RWKHU�JHQHUDO�PHHWLQJV�FDOOHG�WR�REWDLQ�VKDUHKROGHU�DSSURYDOV�

DV�DSSURSULDWH��
x� WKH�KDOI�\HDUO\�ILQDQFLDO�VWDWHPHQWV��DQG�
x� RWKHU�DQQRXQFHPHQWV�UHOHDVHG�WR�WKH�16;�DV�UHTXLUHG�XQGHU�WKH�FRQWLQXRXV�GLVFORVXUH�

UHTXLUHPHQWV�RI�WKH�16;�/LVWLQJ�5XOHV�DQG�RWKHU�LQIRUPDWLRQ�WKDW�PD\�EH�PDLOHG�WR�VKDUHKROGHUV�
RU�PDGH�DYDLODEOH�WKURXJK�WKH�&RPSDQ\
V�ZHEVLWH��

�
7KH� &RPSDQ\� KDV� IROORZHG� 5HFRPPHQGDWLRQ� ���� E\� DFWLYHO\� SURPRWLQJ� FRPPXQLFDWLRQ� ZLWK�
VKDUHKROGHUV� WKURXJK�D�YDULHW\� RI�PHDVXUHV�� LQFOXGLQJ� WKH�XVH�RI� WKH�&RPSDQ\
V�ZHEVLWH�DQG�
HPDLO��
�
7KH� &RPSDQ\� YLD� LWV� VKDUH� UHJLVWU\�� $8720,&�� JLYHV� VKDUHKROGHUV� WKH� RSWLRQ� WR� UHFHLYH�
FRPPXQLFDWLRQV�HOHFWURQLFDOO\��
�

���3ULQFLSOH�����5HFRJQLVH�DQG�PDQDJH�ULVN�
�
5LVN�&RPPLWWHH�
:KLOVW� WKH� &RPSDQ\� GRHV� QRW� KDYH� D� 5LVN� &RPPLWWHH� LW� GLG� LQWURGXFH� DQ� $XGLW� &RPPLWWHH�
GXULQJ������ZKRVH�UHVSRQVLELOLWLHV�JRLQJ�IRUZDUG�ZLOO� LQFOXGH�DVVLVWLQJ�WKH�%RDUG�LQ�IXOILOOLQJ�LWV�
FRUSRUDWH� JRYHUQDQFH� DQG� RYHUVLJKW� UHVSRQVLELOLWLHV� UHODWLQJ� WR� WKH� HIIHFWLYHQHVV� RI� WKH�
&RPSDQ\¶V�V\VWHPV�RI�ILQDQFLDO�ULVN�PDQDJHPHQW�DQG�LQWHUQDO�FRQWUROV��
�
5LVN�PDQDJHPHQW�
7KH�&RPSDQ\�KDV�IROORZHG�5HFRPPHQGDWLRQ������ZKHUHE\�WKH�IXOO�%RDUG�UHJXODUO\�WKURXJKRXW�
WKH�\HDU�UHYLHZV�DQG�PRQLWRUV�V\VWHPV�RI�H[WHUQDO�DQG�LQWHUQDO�FRQWUROV�DQG�DUHDV�RI�VLJQLILFDQW�
RSHUDWLRQDO��ILQDQFLDO�DQG�SURSHUW\�ULVN��DQG�HQVXUHV�DUUDQJHPHQWV�DUH�LQ�SODFH�WR�FRQWDLQ�VXFK�
ULVNV�WR�DFFHSWDEOH�OHYHOV��
�
,QWHUQDO�DXGLW�IXQFWLRQ�
+DYLQJ�UHJDUG�WR�WKH�VL]H�RI�WKH�*URXS�DQG�WKH�QDWXUH�RI�LWV�DFWLYLWLHV��DQ�LQWHUQDO�DXGLW�IXQFWLRQ�
KDV�QRW�EHHQ�HVWDEOLVKHG��KRZHYHU��LQ�FRPSOLDQFH�ZLWK�5HFRPPHQGDWLRQ������LW�LV�GLVFORVHG�WKDW�
WKH�IXOO�%RDUG�FDUULHV�RXW�WKH�ULVN�PDQDJHPHQW�DQG�LQWHUQDO�DXGLW�IXQFWLRQV��
�
5LVNV�DQG�ULVN�PDQDJHPHQW�
,Q� FRPSOLDQFH� ZLWK� 5HFRPPHQGDWLRQ� ����� WKH�PDWHULDO� PDQDJHDEOH� ULVNV� ZKLFK� WKH� *URXS� LV�
H[SRVHG�WR�LQFOXGH�RSHUDWLRQDO�ULVNV��FDSLWDO�ULVNV�DQG�KXPDQ�UHVRXUFHV�ULVNV�DV�IROORZV��
x� REWDLQLQJ�JRYHUQPHQW�DSSURYDOV��
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x� HFRORJLFDO�DQG�HQYLURQPHQWDO�LVVXHV��
x� RLO�DQG�JDV�LQGXVWU\�VWDQGDUG�VDIHW\�SURFHGXUHV��
x� ODQG�DFFHVV�DQG�FRPPXQLW\�GLVSXWHV��
x� WKH�DELOLW\�WR�UDLVH�DGGLWLRQDO�FDSLWDO��DQG�
x� UHFUXLWLQJ�DQG�UHWDLQLQJ�TXDOLILHG�SHUVRQQHO��
�
7KH� IXOO� %RDUG� LV� UHVSRQVLEOH� IRU� RYHUVHHLQJ� WKH� ULVN� PDQDJHPHQW� IXQFWLRQ� DQG� WKH� &KLHI�
([HFXWLYH�2IILFHU�LV� LQ�FKDUJH�RI�LPSOHPHQWLQJ�DQ�DSSURSULDWH� OHYHO�RI�FRQWURO�WR�PLWLJDWH�WKHVH�
ULVNV� ZLWKLQ� WKH� *URXS�� 7KH� IXOO� %RDUG� UHYLHZV� DOO�PDMRU� *URXS� VWUDWHJLHV� DQG� GHFLVLRQV� DQG�
WDNHV�DSSURSULDWH�DFWLRQV�RQ�D�FRQWLQXRXV�EDVLV��
�

���3ULQFLSOH�����5HPXQHUDWH�IDLUO\�DQG�UHVSRQVLEO\�
�
5HPXQHUDWLRQ�&RPPLWWHH�
'XULQJ������ WKH�&RPSDQ\� LQWURGXFHG�D�5HPXQHUDWLRQ�&RPPLWWHH�ZKR�� JRLQJ� IRUZDUG�ZLOO� EH�
UHVSRQVLEOH� IRU� UHYLHZLQJ� DQG� UHFRPPHQGLQJ� WR� WKH� %RDUG� WKH� &RPSDQ\¶V� UHPXQHUDWLRQ�
IUDPHZRUN�� UHPXQHUDWLRQ� SDFNDJHV� DQG� SROLFLHV� DSSOLFDEOH� WR� WKH� PHPEHUV� RI� WKH� H[HFXWLYH�
PDQDJHPHQW�RI�WKH�&RPSDQ\�DQG�'LUHFWRUV��
�
7KH�5HPXQHUDWLRQ�&RPPLWWHH�LV�FRPSULVHG�RI�WKH�IROORZLQJ�PHPEHUV��
0U�3HWHU�9DQ�5DWLQJHQ��&KDLU�RI�&RPPLWWHH��
0U�'DQ�3RZHOO�
0U�-DPHV�0LGJOH\�
�
$OO�RI�ZKRP�DUH�QRQ�H[HFXWLYH�DQG�LQGHSHQGHQW�GLUHFWRUV���
�
$� FRS\� RI� WKH� 5HPXQHUDWLRQ� &RPPLWWHH� &KDUWHU� LV� DYDLODEOH� RQ� WKH� &RPSDQ\¶V� ZHEVLWH� DW��
KWWS���VDSH[JURXS�FRP�FRUSRUDWHBSROLFLHV�SKS��
�
5HPXQHUDWLRQ�UHVSRQVLELOLWLHV�
7KH�UROH�DQG�UHVSRQVLELOLW\�RI�WKH�%RDUG�LV�WR�UHYLHZ�DQG�PDNH�UHFRPPHQGDWLRQV�LQ�UHVSHFW�RI��
x� H[HFXWLYH�UHPXQHUDWLRQ�SROLF\��
x� H[HFXWLYH�GLUHFWRU�DQG�VHQLRU�PDQDJHPHQW�UHPXQHUDWLRQ��
x� H[HFXWLYH�LQFHQWLYH�SODQ��
x� VXSHUDQQXDWLRQ�DUUDQJHPHQWV�IRU�'LUHFWRUV��VHQLRU�H[HFXWLYHV�DQG�RWKHU�HPSOR\HHV��
x� QRQ�H[HFXWLYH�GLUHFWRUV
�UHPXQHUDWLRQ��
x� SHUIRUPDQFH�PHDVXUHPHQW�SROLFLHV�DQG�SURFHGXUHV��
x� WHUPLQDWLRQ�SROLFLHV�DQG�SURFHGXUHV��
x� HTXLW\�EDVHG�SODQV��DQG�
x� UHTXLUHG�UHPXQHUDWLRQ�DQG�UHPXQHUDWLRQ�EHQHILWV�SXEOLF�GLVFORVXUH��
�
7KH�JURXS�KDV�WKH�IROORZLQJ�UHPXQHUDWLRQ�SROLF\�WR�HQVXUH�WKDW�UHPXQHUDWLRQ�DUUDQJHPHQWV�DUH�
HTXLWDEOH��DSSURSULDWH��DQG�QRW�H[FHVVLYH��
�
5HPXQHUDWLRQ�SROLF\�
7KH�GLUHFWRUV
�UHPXQHUDWLRQ�SROLF\� LV�DGRSWHG�E\�VKDUHKROGHUV�DW� WKH�$QQXDO�*HQHUDO�0HHWLQJ��
7KH� VDODU\� DQG� HPROXPHQWV� SDLG� WR� RIILFHUV� DUH� DSSURYHG� E\� WKH� %RDUG�� &RQVXOWDQWV� DUH�
HQJDJHG� DV� UHTXLUHG� SXUVXDQW� WR� VHUYLFH� DJUHHPHQWV�� 7KH�*URXS� HQVXUHV� WKDW� IHHV�� VDODULHV�
DQG�HPROXPHQWV�DUH�LQ�OLQH�ZLWK�JHQHUDO�VWDQGDUGV�IRU�SXEOLFO\�OLVWHG�FRPSDQLHV�RI�WKH�VL]H�DQG�
W\SH�RI�WKH�*URXS��$OO�VDODULHV�RI�GLUHFWRUV�DQG�RIILFHUV�DUH�GLVFORVHG�LQ�WKH�$QQXDO�5HSRUW��
�
7KH�*URXS�KDV�D�SROLF\� WR� UHPXQHUDWH� LWV�GLUHFWRUV� DQG�RIILFHUV� EDVHG� RQ� IL[HG�DQG� LQFHQWLYH�
FRPSRQHQW�VDODU\�SDFNDJHV�WR�UHIOHFW�WKH�VKRUW�DQG�ORQJ�WHUP�REMHFWLYHV�RI�WKH�*URXS��
�
7KH�VDODU\�FRPSRQHQW�RI�QRQ�H[HFXWLYH�DQG�H[HFXWLYH�GLUHFWRUV�LV�PDGH�XS�RI��
x� IL[HG�UHPXQHUDWLRQ��DQG�
x� HTXLW\�EDVHG�UHPXQHUDWLRQ�ZKHQ�LQYLWHG�WR�SDUWLFLSDWH�E\�WKH�%RDUG�LQ�WKH�H[HFXWLYH�VKDUH�RSWLRQ�
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�
6HFXULWLHV�7UDGLQJ�SROLF\�
,Q� DFFRUGDQFH�ZLWK� UHFRPPHQGDWLRQ� ���� WKH�&RPSDQ\� LQWURGXFHG�D�6HFXULWLHV�7UDGLQJ�3ROLF\�
GXULQJ������ WKDW� SURKLELWV�GLUHFWRUV��RIILFHUV� DQG�HPSOR\HHV� IURP�HQWHULQJ� LQWR� WUDQVDFWLRQV�RU�
DUUDQJHPHQWV�ZKLFK�OLPLW�WKH�HFRQRPLF�ULVN�RI�SDUWLFLSDWLQJ�LQ�XQYHVWHG�HQWLWOHPHQWV�XQGHU�DQ\�
HTXLW\�EDVHG�UHPXQHUDWLRQ�VFKHPH��
�
$�FRS\�RI� WKH�&RPSDQ\¶V�6HFXULWLHV�7UDGLQJ�3ROLF\� LV� DYDLODEOH�RQ� WKH�&RPSDQ\¶V�ZHEVLWH�DW��
KWWS���VDSH[JURXS�FRP�FRUSRUDWHBSROLFLHV�SKS��
�
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Auditors’ Independence Declaration under 
Section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001 to the Directors 
of SAPEX Group Limited 

I declare that, to the best of my knowledge and belief, during the year ended 31 December 2018 there 
have been: 

(i) no contraventions of the auditor independence requirements as set out in the
Corporations Act 2001 in relation to the audit; and

(ii) no contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit.

PKF PAUL PEARMAN 
PARTNER 

4 APRIL 2019 
SYDNEY 

PKF(NS) Audit & Assurance Limited Partnership is a member firm of the PKF International Limited family of legally independent firms and does not 
accept any responsibility or liability for the actions or inactions of any individual member or correspondent firm or firms.
For office locations visit www.pkf.com.au

Sydney

Level 8, 1 O’Connell Street
Sydney NSW 2000 Australia�  
GPO Box 5446 Sydney NSW 2001�

p	 +61 2 8346 6000�� 
f	 +61 2 8346 6099

PKF(NS) Audit & Assurance Limited 
Partnership
ABN 91 850 861 839

Liability limited by a scheme 
approved under Professional 
Standards Legislation

Newcastle

755 Hunter Street�  
Newcastle West NSW 2302 Australia�  
PO Box 2368 Dangar NSW 2309

p	 +61 2 4962 2688 
f	 +61 2 4962 3245



SAPEX Group Limited

ACN 619 195 283

Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive
Income
For the Year Ended 31 December 2018

Note

2018

$

2017

$

Revenue 5 1,195,460 769,094

Other income 5 353,485 127

Employee benefits expense 6 (692,053) (165,633)

Depreciation and amortisation expense 6 (760) -

Corporate transaction accounting
expense - (7,521,698)

Fair value loss on derivative liabilities (222,000) -

Other expenses (2,083,274) (1,514,132)

Finance costs 6 (635,600) (30,539)

Loss before income tax (2,084,742) (8,462,781)

Income tax expense 7 (67) -

Loss for the year (2,084,809) (8,462,781)

Items that will be reclassified to profit
or loss when specific conditions are
met

Exchange differences on translating
foreign controlled entities 295,657 -

Other comprehensive loss for the
year, net of tax 295,657 -

Total comprehensive loss for the year (1,789,152) (8,462,781)

Loss attributable to:

Members of the parent entity (2,079,241) (8,462,781)

Non-controlling interest (5,568) -

(2,084,809) (8,462,781)

Total comprehensive loss attributable to:

Members of the parent entity (1,783,584) (8,462,781)

Non-controlling interest (5,568) -

(1,789,152) (8,462,781)

Earnings per share

From continuing and discontinued
operations:

Basic earnings per share 21 (0.11) (0.59)

Diluted earnings per share 21 (0.11) (0.59)

From continuing operations:

Basic earnings per share 21 (0.11) (0.59)

Diluted earnings per share 21 (0.11) (0.59)

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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SAPEX Group Limited

ACN 619 195 283

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
As At 31 December 2018

Note

2018

$

2017

$

ASSETS

CURRENT ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents 10 87,048 13,142

Trade and other receivables 11 902,371 4,473

Loans and advances 12 22,522 -

Other assets 13 18,166 368

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS 1,030,107 17,983

Property, plant and equipment 14 6,177,394 -

Intangible assets 15 6,114,811 -

TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS 12,292,205 -

TOTAL ASSETS 13,322,312 17,983

LIABILITIES

CURRENT LIABILITIES

Trade and other payables 16 585,283 508,727

Borrowings 17 14,680,119 257,475

Derivative financial instruments 18 222,000 -

TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES 15,487,402 766,202

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES

TOTAL NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES - -

TOTAL LIABILITIES 15,487,402 766,202

NET LIABILITIES (2,165,090) (748,219)

EQUITY

Issued capital 19 7,811,990 7,811,990

Reserves 20 641,861 -

Accumulated losses (10,639,450) (8,560,209)

Total equity attributable to equity
holders of the Company (2,185,599) (748,219)

Non-controlling interest 20,509 -

TOTAL EQUITY (2,165,090) (748,219)

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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SAPEX Group Limited

ACN 619 195 283

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
For the Year Ended 31 December 2018

2018

Note

Ordinary
Shares

$

Accumulated
losses

$

Foreign
Currency

Translation
Reserve

$

Convertible
Instruments

Reserve

$

Total
attributable to
members of

the Company

$

Non-
controlling
Interests

$

Total

$

Balance at 1 January 2018 7,811,990 (8,560,209) - - (748,219) - (748,219)

Loss attributable to members of the
parent entity - (2,079,241) - - (2,079,241) - (2,079,241)

Loss attributable to non-controlling
interests

8
- - - - - (5,568) (5,568)

Total other comprehensive income for
the year - - 295,657 - 295,657 - 295,657

Total comprehensive loss for the
year - (2,079,241) 295,657 - (1,783,584) (5,568) (1,789,152)

Recognition of non-controlling interest 8 - - - - - 26,077 26,077

Value of conversion rights - convertible
notes

20
- - - 346,204 346,204 - 346,204

Balance at 31 December 2018 7,811,990 (10,639,450) 295,657 346,204 (2,185,599) 20,509 (2,165,090)

2017

Note

Ordinary
Shares

$

Accumulated
losses

$

Foreign
Currency

Translation
Reserve

$

Convertible
Instruments

Reserve

$

Total
attributable to
members of

the Company

$

Non-
controlling
Interests

$

Total

$

Balance at 1 January 2017 97,428 (97,428) - - - - -

Loss attributable to members of the
parent entity - (8,462,781) - - (8,462,781) - (8,462,781)

Total other comprehensive income for
the year - - - - - - -

Total comprehensive loss for the year - (8,462,781) - - (8,462,781) - (8,462,781)

Transactions with owners in their
capacity as owners

Fair value of deemed reverse
acquisition on SAA by SOS 7,714,562 - - - 7,714,562 - 7,714,562

Balance at 31 December 2017 7,811,990 (8,560,209) - - (748,219) - (748,219)

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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SAPEX Group Limited

ACN 619 195 283

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
For the Year Ended 31 December 2018

Note

2018

$

2017

$

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING
ACTIVITIES:

Receipts from customers 70,884 137,463

Payments to suppliers and
employees (1,319,095) (254,555)

Payments of interest and other
finance costs - (22,425)

Net cash provided by/(used in)
operating activities 30 (1,248,211) (139,517)

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING
ACTIVITIES:

Payments to acquire property, plant
and equipment (4,679) -

Payments to acquire subsidiaries
and business, net of cash acquired (8,856,431) -

Net cash provided by/(used in)
investing activities (8,861,110) -

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING
ACTIVITIES:

Proceeds from issuance of share
capital - 192,864

Proceeds from issuance of
borrowings 10,539,791 469,645

Repayment of borrowings - (309,977)

Payments of interest and other
finance costs (369,104) -

Costs of listing - (200,000)

Net cash provided by/(used in)
financing activities 10,170,687 152,532

Exchange differences on cash and
cash equivalents 12,540 127

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and
cash equivalents held 73,906 13,142

Cash and cash equivalents at
beginning of year 13,142 -

Cash and cash equivalents at end of
financial year 10 87,048 13,142

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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SAPEX Group Limited

ACN 619 195 283

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Year Ended 31 December 2018

The consolidated financial report covers SAPEX Group Limited and its controlled entities ('the Group'). SAPEX Group
Limited is a for-profit listed Public Company limited by shares, incorporated and domiciled in Australia.

Each of the entities within the Group prepare their financial statements based on the currency of the primary economic
environment in which the entity operates (functional currency).  The consolidated financial statements are presented in
Australian dollars which is the parent entity’s functional and presentation currency.

The financial report was authorised for issue by the Directors on 4 April 2019.

Comparatives are consistent with prior years, unless otherwise stated.

1 Basis of Preparation

The financial statements are general purpose financial statements that have been prepared in accordance with the
Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Act 2001.

These financial statements comply with International Financial Reporting Standards as issued by the International
Accounting Standards Board.

The financial statements have been prepared on an accruals basis and are based on historical costs modified, where
applicable, by the measurement at fair value of selected non-current assets, financial assets and financial liabilities.

Significant accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these financial statements are presented below and are
consistent with prior reporting periods unless otherwise stated.

2 Change in Accounting Policy

(a) Financial Instruments - Adoption of AASB 9

The Group has adopted AASB 9 Financial Instruments for the first time in the current year with a date of initial
adoption of 1 January 2017.

As part of the adoption of AASB 9, the Group adopted consequential amendments to other accounting
standards arising from the issue of AASB 9 as follows:

 AASB 101 Presentation of Financial Statements requires the impairment of financial assets to be

presented in a separate line item in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive

income. In the comparative year, this information was presented as part of other expenses.

 AASB 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures requires amended disclosures due to changes arising from

AASB 9, this disclosures have been provided for the current year.

The key changes to the Group's accounting policy and the impact on these financial statements from applying
AASB 9 are described below.

Changes in accounting policies resulting from the adoption of AASB 9 have been applied retrospectively except
the Group has not restated any amounts relating to classification and measurement requirements including
impairment which have been applied from 1 January 2018.
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SAPEX Group Limited

ACN 619 195 283

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Year Ended 31 December 2018

2 Change in Accounting Policy (continued)

(a) Financial Instruments - Adoption of AASB 9 (continued)

Classification of financial assets

The financial assets of the Group have been reclassified into one of the following categories on adoption of
AASB 9 based on primarily the business model in which a financial asset is managed and its contractual cash
flow characteristics:

 Measured at amortised cost

 Fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL)

 Fair value through other comprehensive income - debt instruments (FVOCI - debt)

 Fair value through other comprehensive income - equity instruments (FVOCI - equity).

Measurement of equity instruments

All equity instruments of the Group are measured at fair value under AASB 9 whereas there was a cost
exception under AASB 139 which allowed certain unlisted investments to be carried at amortised cost in the
absence of a reliable measurement of fair value.  Any difference in the previous carrying amount and the fair
value is recognised in the opening retained earnings (or other component of equity, as appropriate) in the
reporting period which includes the date of application.

Equity instruments are no longer subject to impairment testing and therefore all movements on equity
instruments classified as fair value through other comprehensive income are taken to the relevant reserve.

Derivatives

Derivatives embedded in contracts where the host is a financial asset in the scope of AASB 9 are never
separated, the whole hybrid instrument is classified.

Impairment of financial assets

The incurred loss model from AASB 139 has been replaced with an expected credit loss model in AASB 9 for
assets measured at amortised cost, contract assets and fair value through other comprehensive income.  This
can result in the earlier recognition of credit loss (bad debt provisions).

Transition adjustments

There was no impact to reserves and retained earnings on adoption of AASB 9 at 1 January 2018.
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SAPEX Group Limited

ACN 619 195 283

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Year Ended 31 December 2018

2 Change in Accounting Policy (continued)

(a) Financial Instruments - Adoption of AASB 9 (continued)

Classification of financial assets and financial liabilities

The table below illustrates the classification and measurement of financial assets and liabilities under AASB 9
and AASB 139 at the date of initial application. The application of AASB 9 has resulted in no changes in the
measurement of the financial assets and liabilities of the Group. 

Note

Classification
under AASB

139
Classification
under AASB 9

Carrying
amount

under AASB
139

$

Reclassific-
ation

$

Re-
measureme-

nts

$

Carrying
amount under

AASB 9

$

Financial assets

Trade and other receivables
Loans and
receivables Amortised cost 4,473 - - 4,473

Cash and cash equivalents
Loans and
receivables Amortised cost 13,142 - - 13,142

Other assets
Loans and
receivables Amortised cost 368 - - 368

Total financial assets 17,983 - - 17,983

Financial liabilities

Unsecured other loans
Other financial
liabilities

Other financial
liabilities 257,475 - - 257,475

Trade payables
Other financial
liabilities

Other financial
liabilities 492,727 - - 492,727

Other payables
Other financial
liabilities

Other financial
liabilities 16,000 - - 16,000

Total financial liabilities 766,202 - - 766,202

(b) Revenue from Contracts with Customers - Adoption of AASB 15

The Group has adopted AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers for the first time in the current year
with a date of initial application of 1 January 2018.

Whist the Group's accounting policies have now been aligned to the requirements of AASB 15, there was no
recognition or presentation impact on these financial statements from applying AASB 15.

The Group has applied AASB 15 using the cumulative effect method which means the comparative information
has not been restated and continues to be reported under AASB 111, AASB 118 and related interpretations. As
noted above, there were no adjustments necessary on adoption of AASB 15. Details of the Group's updated
accountng policy to relflect the adoption of AASB 15 are detailed further at Note 3(f).

3 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(a) Basis for consolidation

(i) Basis for consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial position and performance of controlled
entities from the date on which control is obtained until the date that control is lost.

Intragroup assets, liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cashflows relating to transactions between
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(a) Basis for consolidation (continued)

(i) Basis for consolidation (continued)
entities in the consolidated entity have been eliminated in full for the purpose of these financial
statements.

Appropriate adjustments have been made to a controlled entity’s financial position, performance and
cash flows where the accounting policies used by that entity were different from those adopted by the
consolidated entity.  All controlled entities have a December financial year end.

A list of controlled entities is contained in Note 27 to the financial statements.

(ii) Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured entities) over which the parent has control.  Control is
established when the parent is exposed to, or has rights to variable returns from its involvement with the
entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its power to direct the relevant activities of the
entity.

(b) Going concern

For the financial year ended 31 December 2018, SAPEX Group Limited recorded a loss after tax of $2,084,809
(2017: $8,462,781) and as of that date, the Group was in a net liability position of $2,165,090 (2017: $748,219).
These circumstances have given rise to a significant doubt on the entity's ability to continue as a going concern.

Given these circumstances, management has entered into an agreement with the First Guardian Secured
Convertible Bond Fund to provide funding of AUD$11.5m to the business for drawdown in April 2019. This
funding will be structured as a convertible note, with terms approved by the Board of Directors. The Convertible
Note Subscription Agreement is in the process of being executed at the time of this report. The going concern
of the Group is contingent on succesful completion of this facility. This funding is for the purposes of expanding
the Group's Dura-base mat assets, refinancing existing liabilities and providing working capital for the Group’s
planned ASX conversion and other operational requirements. It will result in a significant strengthening of SAA’s
financial position and allow it efficiently execute its business plan over 2019. Furthermore, the amounts owing
for related party payables of $3,427,272 was settled on 30 January 2019 (refer to Note 32).  

(c) Business combinations

Business combinations are accounted for by applying the acquisition method which requires an acquiring entity
to be identified in all cases.  The acquisition date under this method is the date that the acquiring entity obtains
control over the acquired entity.

The fair value of identifiable assets and liabilities acquired are recognised in the consolidated financial
statements at the acquisition date.

Goodwill or a gain on bargain purchase may arise on the acquisition date, this is calculated by comparing the
consideration transferred and the amount of non-controlling interest in the acquiree with the fair value of the net
identifiable assets acquired.  Where consideration is greater than the net assets acquired, the excess is
recorded as goodwill.  Where the net assets acquired are greater than the consideration, the measurement
basis of the net assets are reassessed and then a gain from bargain purchase recognised in profit or loss.

All acquisition-related costs are recognised as expenses in the periods in which the costs are incurred except
for costs to issue debt or equity securities.
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(c) Business combinations (continued)

Any contingent consideration which forms part of the combination is recognised at fair value at the acquisition
date.  If the contingent consideration is classified as equity then it is not remeasured and the settlement is
accounted for within equity.  Otherwise subsequent changes in the value of the contingent consideration liability
are measured through profit or loss.

The group recognises non-controlling interests in an acquired entity either at fair value or at the non-controlling
interest’s proportionate share of the acquired entity’s net identifiable assets. This decision is made on an
acquisition-by-acquisition basis. For the non-controlling interests in PT SAPEX Servis Indonesia, the group
elected to recognise the non-controlling interests in at its proportionate share of the acquired net identifiable
assets.

(d) Income Tax

The tax expense recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
comprises of current income tax expense plus deferred tax expense.

Current tax is the amount of income taxes payable (recoverable) in respect of the taxable profit (loss) for the
year and is measured at the amount expected to be paid to (recovered from) the taxation authorities, using the
tax rates and laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period. Current
tax liabilities (assets) are measured at the amounts expected to be paid to (recovered from) the relevant
taxation authority.

Deferred tax is provided on temporary differences which are determined by comparing the carrying amounts of
tax bases of assets and liabilities to the carrying amounts in the consolidated financial statements. 

Deferred tax is not provided for the following:

 The initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and at the

time of the transaction, affects neither accounting profit nor taxable profit (tax loss).

 Taxable temporary differences arising on the initial recognition of goodwill.

 Temporary differences related to investment in subsidiaries, associates and jointly controlled entities to

the extent that the Group is able to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences and it is

probable that they will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when
the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences and unused tax losses to the extent
that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary differences and
losses can be utilised. 

Current and deferred tax is recognised as income or an expense and included in profit or loss for the period
except where the tax arises from a transaction which is recognised in other comprehensive income or equity, in
which case the tax is recognised in other comprehensive income or equity respectively.
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(e) Leases

Lease payments for operating leases, where substantially all of the risks and benefits incidental to the
ownership of the asset remain with the lessor, are charged as expenses on a straight-line basis over the life of
the lease term. 

Lease incentives under operating leases are recognised as a liability and amortised on a straight-line basis over
the life of the lease term.

(f) Revenue and other income

For comparative year

Revenue is recognised when the amount of the revenue can be measured reliably, it is probable that economic
benefits associated with the transaction will flow to the Group. 

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable and is presented net of
returns, discounts and rebates.

For current year

Revenue from contracts with customers - from 1 January 2018

The core principle of AASB 15 is that revenue is recognised on a basis that reflects the transfer of promised
goods or services to customers at an amount that reflects the consideration the Group expects to receive in
exchange for those goods or services.  Revenue is recognised by applying a five-step model as follows:

1. Identify the contract with the customer

2. Identify the performance obligations

3. Determine the transaction price

4. Allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations

5. Recognise revenue as and when control of the performance obligations is transferred

The revenue recognition policies for the principal revenue streams of the Group are:

Recurring service contracts

The Group manages and distributes, under licence, its Dura Base asset base in the South East Asia region
through recurring service (lease) contracts. The services provided under these service contracts are
substantially the same. The services are transferred to the customer with the same pattern of consumption over
time, and whose consideration consists of a recurring fixed amount over the term of the contract (e.g. monthly
or annual payment), in such a way that the customer receives and consumes the benefits of the services as the
Group provides them. 

Under this method, revenue is recognised on a straight line basis over the term of the contract and costs are
recognised on an accrual basis.
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(f) Revenue and other income (continued)

Other income

Other income is recognised on an accruals basis when the Group is entitled to it.

(g) Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset
are capitalised as part of the cost of that asset.

All other borrowing costs are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are incurred.

(h) Goods and services tax (GST)

Revenue, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of Australian goods and services tax (GST)
and Indonesian valued added tax (VAT) (see below), except where the amount of GST or VAT incurred is not
recoverable from the Australian Taxation Office (ATO) or The Directors General of Taxation (Indonesia).

Receivables and payable are stated inclusive of GST and VAT.

Cash flows in the consolidated statement of cash flows are included on a gross basis and the GST/VAT
component of cash flows arising from investing and financing activities which is recoverable from, or payable to,
the taxation authority is classified as operating cash flows.

Indonesian VAT

Value Added Tax (VAT) is levied on the delivery of taxable goods adn the rpvosion of taxable services. VAT
also applies to intangible goods (including royalties) and to virtually all services provided outside Indonesia to
Indonesian businesses. Deliveries  to certain areas (e.g. a free zone or bonded  zone)  may enjoy certain VAT
incentives. Certain goods and services are nontaxable for VAT purposes.

The Directors General of Taxation is responsible for administering VAT in Indonesia.

(i) Property, plant and equipment

Each class of property, plant and equipment is carried at cost or fair value less, where applicable, any
accumulated depreciation and impairment.

Plant and equipment 

Plant and equipment are measured using the cost model.

Depreciation

Property, plant and equipment, excluding freehold land, is depreciated on a straight-line basis over the assets
useful life to the Group, commencing when the asset is ready for use.

Leased assets and leasehold improvements are amortised over the shorter of either the unexpired period of the
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(i) Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Depreciation (continued)
lease or their estimated useful life.

The depreciation rates used for each class of depreciable asset are shown below:

Fixed asset class Depreciation rate

Plant & Equipment Leased to External Parties 20%

Office Equipment 25%

Computer Equipment 20%

At the end of each annual reporting period, the depreciation method, useful life and residual value of each asset
is reviewed. Any revisions are accounted for prospectively as a change in estimate.

(j) Financial instruments

For current year

The Group has adopted AASB 9 Financial Instruments for the first time in the current year with a date of initial
adoption of 1 January 2017. Please refer to Note 2(a) for details of this Change in Accounting Policy.

For comparative year

Financial instruments are recognised initially using trade date accounting, i.e. on the date that the Group
becomes party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

On initial recognition, all financial instruments are measured at fair value plus transaction costs (except for
instruments measured at fair value through profit or loss where transaction costs are expensed as incurred).

(i) Financial assets

Financial assets are divided into the following categories which are described in detail below:

 loans and receivables;

 financial assets at fair value through profit or loss;

 available-for-sale financial assets; and

 held-to-maturity investments.

Financial assets are assigned to the different categories on initial recognition, depending on the
characteristics of the instrument and its purpose. A financial instrument’s category is relevant to the way
it is measured and whether any resulting income and expenses are recognised in profit or loss or in
other comprehensive income.
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(j) Financial instruments (continued)

(i) Financial assets (continued)

All income and expenses relating to financial assets are recognised in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income in the ‘finance income’ or ‘finance costs’ line item
respectively.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are
not quoted in an active market. They arise principally through the provision of goods and services to
customers but also incorporate other types of contractual monetary assets.

After initial recognition these are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less
provision for impairment. Any change in their value is recognised in profit or loss.

The Group’s trade and other receivables fall into this category of financial instruments.

In some circumstances, the Group renegotiates repayment terms with customers which may lead to
changes in the timing of the payments, the Group does not necessarily consider the balance to be
impaired, however assessment is made on a case-by-case basis.

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities are classified as either financial liabilities ‘at fair value through profit or loss’ or other financial
liabilities depending on the purpose for which the liability was acquired. Although the Group uses derivative
financial instruments in economic hedges of currency and interest rate risk, it does not hedge account for these
transactions.

The Group‘s financial liabilities include borrowings, trade and other payables (including finance lease liabilities),
which are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method.

Impairment of financial assets

At the end of the reporting period the Group assesses whether there is any objective evidence that a financial
asset or group of financial assets is impaired.

(k) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprises cash on hand, demand deposits and short-term investments which are
readily convertible to known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of change in value.

(l) Employee benefits

Provision is made for the Group's liability for employee benefits arising from services rendered by employees to
the end of the reporting period. Employee benefits that are expected to be wholly settled within one year have
been measured at the amounts expected to be paid when the liability is settled.

Employee benefits expected to be settled more than one year after the end of the reporting period have been
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(l) Employee benefits (continued)
measured at the present value of the estimated future cash outflows to be made for those benefits. In
determining the liability, consideration is given to employee wage increases and the probability that the
employee may satisfy vesting requirements. Cashflows are discounted using market yields on high quality
corporate bond rates incorporating bonds rated AAA or AA by credit agencies, with terms to maturity that match
the expected timing of cashflows. Changes in the measurement of the liability are recognised in profit or loss.

(m) Trade and other receivables

For comparative year

Trade receivables are initially recognised at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method, less any provision for impairment. Trade receivables are generally settled within 30
days.

Collectibility of trade receivables is reviewed on an ongoing basis. Debtors which are known to be uncollectable
are written off by reducing the carrying amount directly. A provision for impairment of trade receivables is raised
when there is objective evidence that the consolidated entity will not be able to collect all amounts due
according to the original terms of the receivables. Significant financial difficulties of the debtor, probability that
the debtor will enter bankruptcy or financial reorganisation and default or delinquency in payments (more than
60 days overdue) are considered indicators that the trade receivables will be impaired. The amount of the
impairment allowance is the difference between the assets carrying amount and the present value of the
estimated future cash flows, discounted at the original effective interest rate. Cash flows relating to short-term
receivables are not discounted if the effect of the discounting is immaterial.

Other receivables are recognised at amortised cost, less any provision for impairment.

For current year

The measurement and classification of trade and other receivables is now accounted for in accordance with the
requirements of AASB 9 - refer to Note 2(a) for further details.

(n) Trade and other payables

These amounts represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the consolidated entity prior to the end of
the financial year and which are unpaid. Due to their short term nature they are measured at amortised cost and
are not discounted. The amounts are unsecure and are usually paid within 30 days of recognition.

(o) Borrowings

Loans and borrowings are initially recognised at the fair value of the consideration received, net of transaction
costs. They are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method.

(p) Earnings per share

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit attributable to owners of the company by the
weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year.

Diluted earnings per share adjusts the basic earnings per share to take into account the after income tax effect
of interest and other financing costs associated with dilutive potential ordinary shares and the weighted average
number of additional ordinary shares that would have been outstanding assuming the conversion of all dilutive
potential ordinary shares.
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(q) Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of ordinary shares
and share options which vest immediately are recognised as a deduction from equity, net of any tax effects.

(r) Foreign currency transactions and balances

Transaction and balances

Foreign currency transactions are recorded at the spot rate on the date of the transaction.

At the end of the reporting period:

 Foreign currency monetary items are translated using the closing rate;

 Non-monetary items that are measured at historical cost are translated using the exchange rate at the

date of the transaction; and

 Non-monetary items that are measured at fair value are translated using the rate at the date when fair

value was determined.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items or on translating monetary items at rates
different from those at which they were translated on initial recognition or in prior reporting periods are
recognised through profit or loss, except where they relate to an item of other comprehensive income or
whether they are deferred in equity as qualifying hedges.

38



SAPEX Group Limited

ACN 619 195 283

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Year Ended 31 December 2018

3 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

(s) New Accounting Standards and Interpretations

The AASB has issued new and amended Accounting Standards and Interpretations that have mandatory
application dates for future reporting periods. The Group has decided not to early adopt these Standards. The
following table summarises those future requirements, and their impact on the Group where the standard is
relevant:

Standard Name
Effective date
for entity Requirements Impact

AASB 16 Leases Annual
reporting
period
beginning on
or after 1
January 2019

AASB 16 will cause the majority of
leases of an entity to be brought
onto the statement of financial
position. There are limited
exceptions relating to short-term
leases and low value assets which
may remain off-balance sheet. The
calculation of the lease liability will
take into account appropriate
discount rates, assumptions about
lease term and increases in lease
payments. A corresponding right to
use asset will be recognised which
will be amortised over the term of the
lease. Rent expense will no longer
be shown, the profit and loss impact
of the leases will be through
amortisation and interest charges.

AASB 16 will not have
a significant impact on
the Group as there are
no material operating
leases which are
anticipated to be
brought onto the
statement of financial
position through the
recognition of a right
to use asset and
associated lease
liability. 

(t) Parent entity

In accordance with the Corprations Act 2001, these financial statements preset the results of the consolidated
entity only. Supplementary information about the legal parent entity is dislcosed in Note 33.

(u) Segment Reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief
operating decision maker.

The Board alongside the chief operating decision maker assesses the financial performance and position of the
group, and makes strategic decisions. The chief operating decision maker, consists of the chief executive
officer, the chief operating officer and the chief financial officer. 

4 Critical Accounting Estimates and Judgments

The directors make estimates and judgements during the preparation of these consolidated financial statements
regarding assumptions about current and future events affecting transactions and balances.

These estimates and judgements are based on the best information available at the time of preparing the financial
statements, however as additional information is known then the actual results may differ from the estimates.

The significant estimates and judgements made have been described below.
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Key estimates - impairment of goodwill

In accordance with AASB 136 Impairment of Assets, the Group is required to estimate the recoverable amount of
goodwill at each reporting period.

Impairment testing is an area involving management judgement, requiring assessment as to whether the carrying
value of assets can be supported by the net present value of future cash flows derived from such assets using cash
flow projections which have been discounted at an appropriate rate and using a terminal value to incorporate
expectations of growth thereafter.

In calculating the net present value of the future cash flows, certain assumptions are required to be made in respect of
highly uncertain matters including management’s expectations of:

• growth in EBITDA, calculated as adjusted operating profit before depreciation and amortisation;

• timing and quantum of future capital expenditure;

• long-term growth rates; and

• the selection of discount rates to reflect the risks involved.

The Group prepares and approves formal five year management plans for its operations, which are used in the value
in use calculations. 

Changing the assumptions selected by management, in particular the discount rate and growth rate assumptions used
in the cash flow projections, could significantly affect the Group’s impairment evaluation and hence results.

The Group’s review includes the key assumptions related to sensitivity in the cash flow projections. Further details are
provided in Note 15 to the consolidated financial statements.

(a) Key estimates - business combinations

The Group initially recognises of assets and liabilities acquired, through business combination, at their fair
values. Fair values are based on the prevailing market conditios and industrial information at the time and make
estimation and assumptions when arriving the fair values, which are provisional. Subsequent events may
indicate these estimation and assumptions need to be revised thus affecting their fair values.

5 Revenue and Other Income

Revenue from continuing operations

2018

$

2017

$

Sales revenue

- provision of services 414,455 -

Other revenue

- licence fee 781,005 769,094

Total Revenue 1,195,460 769,094

40



SAPEX Group Limited

ACN 619 195 283

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Year Ended 31 December 2018

5 Revenue and Other Income (continued)

2018

$

2017

$

Other Income

- fees 18,044 -

- discount on acquisition 322,565 -

- other income 336 -

- gain on exchange differences 12,540 127

353,485 127

6 Result for the Year

The result for the year was derived after charging / (crediting) the following items:

2018

$

2017

$

Finance Costs

- Other finance costs 635,600 30,539

Other expenses:

 - Employee benefits expense 692,053 165,633

 - Depreciation and amortisation
expense 760 -

Impairment of receivables:

- Bad debts 827,814 -

- Doubtful debts - 631,631

Rental expense on operating
leases:

- Minimum lease payments 13,521 1,718

7 Income Tax Expense

(a) The major components of tax expense (income) comprise:

2018

$

2017

$

Current tax expense

Current tax 67 -

Deferred tax expense - -

Income tax expense for
continuing operations 67 -

Total income tax expense 67 -
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(b) Reconciliation of income tax to accounting profit:

2018

$

2017

$

Loss (2,084,742) (8,462,781)

Tax %30.00 %30.00

(625,423) (2,538,834)

Add:

Tax effect of:

- other non-deductible expenses - -

- non-deductible corporate
transaction accounting expense - 2,256,509

- tax losses not recognised 625,490 282,325

67 -

Less:

Tax effect of:

Income tax charge 67 -

8 Business Combinations

The Group underwent two acquisitions during the year to facilitate the Group's transition to a full-service owner
operator of the Dura-Base® Composite Mat System. The acquisitions allow the company to consolidate its core
business operations across Australia, Indonesia, Philippines, and Myanmar.

Accordingly, on 26 September 2018, SAPEX Group Limited ("SAA or the Company") acquired  99% interest of PT
SAPEX Servis Indonesia ("SSI") for cash consideration of AUD $2,294,098 (23,470,000,000 IDR). 

On 31 December 2018, the Group further completed an Asset Purchase agreement to acquire all Dura-Base assets
and Dura-Base business from PT SAS International ("SAS").  This was acquired by SSI and completed through cash
consideration of AUD$8,861,064 (USD $6.425 million) and the transfer of fully paid ordinary shares in SAPEX Group
Limited of AUD$3,427,272 (USD$2.275 million) by a company shareholder (the Shareholder Group). In order to
complete the acquisition of the business and assets from SAS at 31 December 2018, the Shareholder Group
transferred 2,954,545 fully paid ordinary shares directly to SAS by way of an off-market share transfer for the fair value
of $3,427,272 on the condition that these would be returned to the Shareholder Group on approval of the issue of
shares in SAA at the next Shareholder Meeting. This amount has been recorded as part of loans from related parties in
Note 29(c). 

On 30 January 2019, the issue of the 2,954,545 shares was approved at a Shareholders Meeting in favour of SAS.
SAS subsequently transferred 2,954,545 fully paid ordinary shares back to the Shareholder Group by way of an off-
market transfer. Refer to Note 32 for events occurring after reporting date. 

As part of the arrangement for the business combination, SAPEX Group Limited has entered into a profit-sharing
arrangement with the vendor SAS. SAS will be entitled to a share of 20% of the after-tax annual profits attributable to
the acquired Dura-base business after the completion date of the acquisition, 31 December 2018.

These acquisitions are expected to increase the Group's share of this market and reduce costs through economies of
scale.
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The following table shows the provisionally determined fair value of assets acquired, liabilities assumed and the
purchase consideration at the respective acquisition dates.

Acquisition of
SSI

26 Sep 2018

$

Acquisition of
SAS

31 Dec 2018

$

Purchase consideration:

 - Cash 2,294,098 8,861,064

 - Fair value of shares transferred by
Shareholder Group 3,427,272

Total purchase consideration 2,294,098 12,288,336

Assets or liabilities acquired:

Cash 4,923 -

Trade and other receivables 2,398,660 -

Other assets 2,179,130 -

Plant and equipment - 6,173,525

Trade payables (1,938,164) -

Provisions (1,810) -

Total net identifiable assets 2,642,739 6,173,525

Less: non-controlling interests (26,076) -

Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities
assumed 2,616,663 6,173,525

Purchase consideration 2,294,098 12,288,336

Less: Identifiable assets acquired 2,616,663 6,173,525

Goodwill/(bargain purchase price) (322,565) 6,114,811

Revenue of SSI included in the consolidated revenue of the Group since the acquisition date on 26 September 2018
amounted to $ 414,455 with a loss of $ 556,786.

The fair value of the shares transferred as part of the consideration paid for the Dura-base assets and business was
based on the published share price on 31 December 2018 of AUD $1.16 per share.

The goodwill is attributable to synergies expected to be achieved from integrating the Group into the Group’s existing
businesses and established networks. None of the goodwill recognised expected to be deductible for income tax
purposes.

9 Operating Segments

Segment information

Identification of reportable segments

The Group identifies its operating segments based on the internal reports that are reviewed and used by the Board of
Directors (chief operating decision maker) in assessing performance and determining the allocation of resources.

The Group is managed primarily on the basis of product category and service offerings. Operating segments are
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Identification of reportable segments (continued)
therefore determined on the same basis.

Accordingly, management has currently identified the Group as having only one reportable segment, being the
management and distribution of industrial mats, being the Dura-Base product.

The financial results from this segment are equivalent to the financial statements for the Group.

10 Cash and Cash Equivalents

2018

$

2017

$

Cash at bank and in hand 87,048 13,142

11 Trade and Other Receivables

2018

$

2017

$

CURRENT

Trade receivables 451,056 631,631

Provision for impairment (a) - (631,631)

Deposits 3,876 -

GST receivable 447,439 4,473

Total current trade and other
receivables 902,371 4,473

(a) Impairment of receivables

Reconciliation of changes in the provision for impairment of receivables is as follows:

2018

$

2017

$

Balance at beginning of the year 631,631 -

Impairment loss recognised - 631,631

Provision used (631,631) -

Balance at end of the year - 631,631

12 Loans and Advances

2018

$

2017

$

CURRENT

Loans to directors, managers and
employees 29(c) 22,522 -

22,522 -
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13 Other Assets

2018

$

2017

$

CURRENT

Prepayments 18,166 368

14 Property, plant and equipment

PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

2018

$

2017

$

Plant and equipment leased to
external parties pursuant to
operating leases

At cost 6,173,525 -

Accumulated depreciation - -

Total plant and equipment leased
to external parties pursuant to
operating leases 6,173,525 -

Office equipment

At cost 3,000 -

Accumulated depreciation (187) -

Total office equipment 2,813 -

Computer equipment

At cost 1,629 -

Accumulated depreciation (573) -

Total computer equipment 1,056 -

Total property, plant and
equipment 6,177,394 -
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14 Property, plant and equipment (continued)

(a) Movements in carrying amounts of property, plant and equipment

Movement in the carrying amounts for each class of property, plant and equipment between the beginning and
the end of the current financial year:

Plant &
Equipment
Leased to
External
Parties

$

Office
Equipment

$

Computer
Equipment

$

Total

$

Year ended 31 December 2018

Balance at the beginning of year - - - -

Additions - 3,000 1,629 4,629

Additions through acquisition of entity 6,173,525 - - 6,173,525

Total additions 6,173,525 3,000 1,629 6,178,154

Depreciation expense - (187) (573) (760)

Balance at the end of the year 6,173,525 2,813 1,056 6,177,394

Plant &
Equipment
Leased to
External
Parties

$

Office
Equipment

$

Computer
Equipment

$

Total

$

Year ended 31 December 2017

Balance at the beginning of year - - - -

Additions - - - -

Depreciation expense - - - -

Balance at the end of the year - - - -
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15 Intangible Assets

2018

$

2017

$

Goodwill

Cost 6,114,811 -

Accumulated impairment losses - -

Net carrying value 6,114,811 -

Total Intangibles 6,114,811 -

(a) Movements in carrying amounts of intangible assets

Goodwill

$

Total

$

Year ended 31 December 2018

Balance at the beginning of the year - -

Additions 6,114,811 6,114,811

Impairment loss in income - -

Closing value at 31 December 2018 6,114,811 6,114,811

Goodwill

$

Total

$

Year ended 31 December 2017

Balance at the beginning of the year - -

Additions - -

Impairment loss in income - -

Closing value at 31 December 2017 - -
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15 Intangible Assets (continued)

(b) Impairment tests

Management carried out an impairment review at the end of the year using discounted cash flows. The
following table sets out the key assumptions used in the impairment review and their approach in determining
each criteria:

Assumption Approach used to determining values Value

Growth rate Average annual growth rate over the five-year forecast
period; based on current industry trends and including long
term inflation forecasts for each territory.

9%

Budgeted gross margin Based on past performance and management’s
expectations for the future.

34%

Other operating costs Fixed costs of the CGUs, which do not vary significantly
with sales volumes or prices. Management forecasts these
costs based on the current structure of the business,
adjusting for inflationary increases but not reflecting any
future restructurings or cost saving measures. The
amounts disclosed above are the average operating costs
for the five-year forecast period.

USD$5.3m

Pre-tax discount rates Reflect specific risks relating to the relevant segments and
the countries in which they operate.

8%

16 Trade and Other Payables

2018

$

2017

$

CURRENT

Trade payables 399,939 492,727

Employee benefits 921 -

Accrued expenses 101,907 16,000

Provision for tax 39,847 -

Other payables 42,669 -

585,283 508,727

Trade and other payables are unsecured, non-interest bearing and are normally settled within 30 days.  The carrying
value of trade and other payables is considered a reasonable approximation of fair value due to the short-term nature
of the balances.
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17 Borrowings

2018

$

2017

$

CURRENT

Convertible notes 17(a) 6,347,067 -

Related party payables 17(b) 3,812,261 257,475

Other loans 17(c) 4,520,791 -

14,680,119 257,475

Total current borrowings 14,680,119 257,475

(a) Convertible notes

During the year, the Company issued convertible debt securities as follows:

6,084,792 convertible loan notes were issued for at a face value of AUD$1.10, with a 10% coupon rate, and a
maturity term of 12 months with a 20 business day conversion period after maturity. Conversion is at the
holders’ discretion, except for an automatic conversion upon the Group sucessfully listing on the ASX. During
the conversion period, the noteholder may elect to convert the face value of the notes into fully paid Ordinary
Shares.

In accordance with the Accounting Standards, the convertible notes have been deemed a compound financial
instrument and therefore having a debt and an equity component. The fair value of the debt component of the
convertible notes is recorded in short term borrowings. The remaining portion is recorded as Equity in Reserves
(refer to Note 20), which represents the value of conversion rights of the convertible notes. 

(b) Related party payables 

On 31 December 2018, in order to complete the acquisition of the business and assets from PT. SAS
International, a company shareholder (the Shareholder Group) transferred 2,954,545 fully paid ordinary shares
to PT SAS International by way of an off-market share transfer for a fair value of $3,427,272 as full and final
settlement of the acquisition. This amount has been included as part of related party payables. This company
shareholder is a related party, being First Guardian Holdings Pty Ltd. Refer to Note 8 for details relating to the
acquisition and Note 29(c) for details of the related party involved.

On 30 January 2019, it was resolved at a meeting of the Shareholders to issue 2,952,545 fully paid ordinary
shares (Transferred Shares) to PT. SAS International. PT. SAS International subsequently transferred
2,954,545 fully paid ordinary shares back to the Shareholder Group by way of off market transfer. (Refer to
Note 32).

(c) Other loans

1. The Group obtained a loan for an amount of USD$3,000,000 (AUD$4,165,862) from Athos Asia Event Driven
Master Fund ("Athos") during the year, to assist with the Indonesian acquisitions. The term of the loan is 12
months, with interest charged at 16% per annum, payable monthly in arrears. The loan is secured by way of 3.7
million detachable warrants, exercisable at AUD$1.10 which also expire in 12 months (in-line with the loan
termination date). The fair value of the detachable warrants has been recognised as a derivative financial
instrument as detailed in Note 18.

2. On 18 December 2018, a loan was provided by MK Engineering Pte Ltd for an amount of USD$250,000
(AUD$354,929). The Group is to pay a facility fee of USD$25,000 on 31 January 2019 and on 15 March 2019.
The loan and final facility fee is repayable in full on 15 March 2019. There are no other terms attached to the

49



SAPEX Group Limited

ACN 619 195 283

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Year Ended 31 December 2018

17 Borrowings (continued)

(c) Other loans (continued)
loan.

18 Derivative Financial Instruments

2018 2017

$ $

CURRENT

Fair value of detachable
warrants 222,000 -

3.7 million detachable warrents were issued during the year as security on the loan provided by Athos Asia Event
Driven Master Fund ("Athos"). Refer to Note 17(c).

19 Issued Capital

2018

$

2017

$

19,286,406 (2017: 19,286,406) Ordinary
shares 7,811,990 7,811,990

Total 7,811,990 7,811,990

(a) Ordinary shares

2018

No.

2017

No.

At the beginning of the reporting
period 19,286,406 50,000

Shares relating to deemed reverse
acquisition on SAA by SOS - 7,714,562

Issue of shares to SOS vendors
as part of reverse acquisition - 11,571,844

Elimination of SOS shares - (50,000)

At the end of the reporting period 19,286,406 19,286,406

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to participate in dividends and the proceeds on winding up of the
Company. On a show of hands at meetings of the Company, each holder of ordinary shares has one vote in
person or by proxy, and upon a poll each share is entitled to one vote.

The Company does not have authorised capital or par value in respect of its shares.

(b) Capital Management

The key objectives of the Group when managing capital is to safeguard its ability to continue as a going
concern and maintain optimal benefits to stakeholders. The Group defines capital as its equity and net debt.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes funding decisions based on the prevailing economic
environment and has a number of tools available to manage capital risk.
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19 Issued Capital (continued)

(b) Capital Management (continued)

The Board monitors a range of financial metrics including return on capital employed and gearing ratios. A key
objective of the Group's capital risk management is to maintain compliance with the covenants attached to the
Group's debts. Throughout the year, the Group has complied with these covenants.

20 Reserves

Exchange differences arising on translation of the foreign controlled entity are recognised in other comprehensive
income - foreign currency translation reserve. The cumulative amount is reclassified to profit or loss when the net
investment is disposed of.

Note

2018

$

2017

$

Foreign currency translation
reserve

Opening balance - -

Exchange differences on
translation of foreign controlled
entities 295,657 -

Closing balance 295,657 -

Convertible instruments
reserve 

Opening balance - -

Value of conversion rights -
convertible notes 17(a) 346,204 -

Closing balance 346,204 -

Total 641,861 -
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21 Earnings per Share

(a) Reconciliation of earnings to profit or loss from continuing operations

2018

$

2017

$

Loss from continuing operations (2,079,241) (8,462,781)

Earnings used in the calculation of
dilutive EPS from continuing
operations (2,079,241) (8,462,781)

(b) Earnings used to calculate overall earnings per share

2018

$

2017

$

Earnings used to calculate overall
earnings per share (2,079,241) (8,462,781)

(c) Weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year used in calculating basic EPS

2018

No.

2017

No.

Weighted average number of ordinary
shares outstanding during the year used
in calculating basic EPS 19,286,406 14,464,804

Weighted average number of ordinary
shares outstanding during the year
used in calculating dilutive EPS 19,286,406 14,464,804

Anti-dilutive options and warrants on issue have not been included in the dilutive EPS calculation.

  22 Capital, Leasing and Contracted Commitments

2018

$

2017

$

Minimum lease payments under
non-cancellable operating leases:

- not later than one year 15,332 -

- between one year and five years - -

- later than five years - -

15,332 -

Operating leases are in place for rental premises and normally have a term between 6 and 12 months. Lease
payments are increased on an annual basis to reflect market rentals.
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23 Financial Risk Management

The Group is exposed to a variety of financial risks through its use of financial instruments.

The Group‘s overall risk management plan seeks to minimise potential adverse effects due to the unpredictability of
financial markets.

The most significant financial risks to which the Group is exposed to are described below:

Specific risks

 Liquidity risk

 Credit risk

 Market risk - currency risk, interest rate risk and price risk

Financial instruments used

The principal categories of financial instrument used by the Group are:

 Trade receivables

 Cash at bank

 Trade and other payables

 Borrowings

Objectives, policies and processes

The Board of Directors have overall responsibility for the establishment of the Group’s financial risk management
framework. This includes the development of policies covering specific areas such as foreign exchange risk, interest
rate risk, credit risk and the use of derivatives.

Risk management policies and systems are reviewed regularly to reflect changes in market conditions and the Group’s
activities.

The day-to-day risk management is carried out by the Group’s finance function under policies and objectives which
have been approved by the Board of Directors.  The Chief Financial Officer has been delegated the authority for
designing and implementing processes which follow the objectives and policies. This includes monitoring the levels of
exposure to interest rate and foreign exchange rate risk and assessment of market forecasts for interest rate and
foreign exchange movements.

The Board of Directors receives monthly reports which provide details of the effectiveness of the processes and
policies in place.

Mitigation strategies for specific risks faced are described below:
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23 Financial Risk Management (continued)

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk arises from the Group’s management of working capital and the finance charges and principal
repayments on its debt instruments. It is the risk that the Group will encounter difficulty in meeting its financial
obligations as they fall due.

The Group’s policy is to ensure that it will always have sufficient cash to allow it to meet its liabilities as and when they
fall due. The Group maintains cash and marketable securities to meet its liquidity requirements for up to 30-day
periods. Funding for long-term liquidity needs is additionally secured by an adequate amount of committed credit
facilities and the ability to sell long-term financial assets.

The Group manages its liquidity needs by carefully monitoring scheduled debt servicing payments for long-term
financial liabilities as well as cash-outflows due in day-to-day business. 

The Group has also received the continued support from First Guardian Holdings Pty Ltd as explained in Notes 3(b)
and 29.

At the reporting date, these reports indicate that the Group expected to have sufficient liquid resources to meet its
obligations under all reasonably expected circumstances and will not need to draw down any of the financing facilities.

Credit risk 

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting in a financial loss to
the Group.

Credit risk arises from cash and cash equivalents, derivative financial instruments and deposits with banks and
financial institutions, as well as credit exposure to wholesale and retail customers, including outstanding receivables
and committed transactions.

The utilisation of credit limits by customers is regularly monitored by line management. Customers who subsequently
fail to meet their credit terms are required to make purchases on a prepayment basis until creditworthiness can be re-
established.

The credit risk for liquid funds and other short-term financial assets is considered negligible, since the counterparties
are reputable banks with high quality external credit ratings.

The Group has no significant concentration of credit risk.

On a geographical basis, the Group has significant credit risk exposures in Indonesia given the substantial operations
in that region.

The following table details the Group's trade and other receivables exposure to credit risk (prior to collateral and other
credit enhancements) with ageing analysis and impairment provided for thereon. Amounts are considered as 'past due'
when the debt has not been settled, within the terms and conditions agreed between the Group and the customer or
counter party to the transaction. Receivables that are past due are assessed for impairment by ascertaining solvency
of the debtors and are provided for where there is objective evidence indicating that the debt may not be fully repaid to
the Group.
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23 Financial Risk Management (continued)
Past due but not impaired

(days overdue)

Gross
amount

$

Past due
and

impaired

$

< 30

$

31-60

$

61-90

$

> 90

$

Within
initial
trade
terms

$

2018

Trade receivables 451,056 - 436,702 14,354 - - -

Other receivables 451,315 - - - - - 451,315

Total 902,371 - 436,702 14,354 - - 451,315

2017

Trade receivables 631,631 631,631 - - - - -

Other receivables 4,473 - - - - - 4,473

Total 636,104 631,631 - - - - 4,473

The Group does not hold any financial assets with terms that have been renegotiated, but which would otherwise be
past due or impaired.

The other classes of receivables do not contain impaired assets.

Market risk

Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes
in market prices.

(i) Foreign exchange risk

Exposure to foreign exchange risk may result in the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument fluctuating
due to movement in foreign exchange rates of currencies in which the Group holds financial instruments which are
other than the AUD functional currency of the Group.

Exposures to currency exchange rates arise from the Group's overseas sales and purchases, which are primarily
denominated in Indonesian Rupiah and US Dollars. 

Generally, the Group‘s risk management procedures distinguish short-term foreign currency cash flows (due within 6
months) from longer-term cash flows. Where the amounts to be paid and received in a specific currency are expected
to largely offset one another, no further hedging activity is undertaken. 

The Group is not exposed to material foreign exchange risk

(ii) Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to interest rate risk as funds are borrowed at floating and fixed rates. Borrowings issued at fixed
rates expose the Group to fair value interest rate risk.

The following table illustrates the sensitivity of the net result for the year and equity to a reasonably possible change in
interest rates of +1.00% and -1.00% (2017: +1.00%/-1.00%), with effect from the beginning of the year. These
changes are considered to be reasonably possible based on observation of current market conditions and economist
reports.
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The calculations are based on the financial instruments held at each reporting date. All other variables are held
constant.

2018 2017

+1.00% -1.00% +1.00% -1.00%

$ $ $ $

Net results 108,591 (108,591) 2,575 (2,575)

Equity (108,591) 108,591 (2,575) 2,575

(iii) Price risk

Price risk relates to the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of
changes in market prices of securities held being fair value through profit and loss.

The Group is not exposed materially to such risk. 

24 Dividends

There were no dividends paid or recommended during the period or since the end of the period. There are no franking
credits available to the shareholders of the Company

25 Key Management Personnel Remuneration

Key management personnel (KMP) remuneration included within employee expenses for the year is shown below:

2018

$

2017

$

Short-term employee benefits 640,905 165,634

Included in the above KMP remuneration are amounts paid in the form of non-cash benefits totalling $395,000 (2017:
$Nil). Detailed remuneration discloures are provided in the Remuneration Report.

26 Auditors' Remuneration

2018

$

2017

$

Remuneration of the auditor PKF,
for:)

- auditing or reviewing the
financial statements 42,000 16,000

- other services 111,125 18,597

Total 153,125 34,597
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27 Interests in Subsidiaries

(a) Composition of the Group

Principal place of
business / Country of
Incorporation

Percentage
Owned (%)*

2018

Percentage
Owned (%)*

2017

Subsidiaries:

SAPEX Oilfield Services Limited British Virgin Islands 100 100

PT. SAPEX Servis Indonesia Indonesia 99 -

*The percentage of ownership interest held is equivalent to the percentage voting rights for all subsidiaries.

The principal activties of the subsidiaries are the same as that of the Group.

28 Contingencies

In the opinion of the Directors, the Company did not have any contingencies at 31 December 2018 (31 December
2017:None).

29 Related Parties

(a) The Group's main related parties are as follows:

Disclosures relating to key management personnel compensation are set out in Note 25 and the Directors
Report.

Disclosures relating to subsidiaries are set out in Note 27.

Other related parties include close family members of key management personnel and entities that are
controlled or significantly influenced by those key management personnel or their close family members.

(b) Transactions with related parties

Transactions between related parties are on normal commercial terms and conditions no more favourable than
those available to other parties unless otherwise stated.
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29 Related Parties (continued)

(c) Loans to/from related parties

Opening
balance

Closing
balance

Interest not
charged

Interest
paid/payable Impairment

Loans to KMP

2018

Peter Chambers - 22,522 - - -

Loans from KMP

2018

APAC Partners Pty Ltd - 33,000 - - -

First Guardian Holdings Pty Ltd 257,475 351,989 - 19,872 -

FG Agri Pty Ltd - 3,427,272 - - -

257,475 3,812,261 - 19,872 -

2017

APAC Partners Pty Ltd - - - - -

First Guardian Holdings Pty Ltd - 257,475 - 22,425 -

- 257,475 - 22,425 -

APAC Partners Pty Ltd and Conrad Warren are related parties as defined under the Corporations Act 2001.
Conrad Warren is the sole director and 100% shareholder of APAC Partners Pty Ltd.  Mayee Warren and Chris
Warren are related parties and/or associates of Conrad Warren as defined under the Corporations Act 2001.
These parties are substantial shareholders of the Company. 

FG Agri Pty Ltd, First Guardian Holdings Pty Ltd and David Anderson are related parties as defined under the
Corporations Act 2001.  David Anderson is the director and shareholder of FG Agri Pty Ltd and First Guardian
Holdings Pty Ltd. David Anderson acts as the Chief Financial Officer of the Group.

Terms of the loan from First Guardian Holdings Pty Ltd and APAC Partners Pty Ltd are disclosed in Note 17. 

Terms of the loan to Peter Chambers are disclosed in the Remuneration Report, included as part of the
Directors Report.
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30 Cash Flow Information

(a) Reconciliation of result for the year to cashflows from operating activities

Reconciliation of net income to net cash provided by operating activities:

2018

$

2017

$

Total loss for the year (2,084,809) (8,462,781)

 - Costs of listing - 200,000

Non-cash flows in profit:

 - depreciation 760 -

- non-monetary remuneration of KMP 308,925 -

 - impairment of receivables 827,814 -

 - fair value of derivative financial
instruments 222,000 -

 - discount on acquisition (322,565) -

- interest on borrowings classified as
financing activities 369,104 -

 - corporate transaction accounting
expense - 7,521,698

 - foreign exchange gain (12,540) (127)

Changes in assets and liabilities:

 - (increase)/decrease in trade and
other receivables (660,798) -

 - (increase)/decrease in prepayments 122,476 (368)

 - increase/(decrease) in trade and
other payables (121,605) 602,061

- increase/(decrease) in accrued
expenses 56,726 -

 - increase/(decrease) in income taxes
payable 34,377 -

 - increase/(decrease) in provisions 11,924 -

Cashflows from operations (1,248,211) (139,517)

(b) Non-cash financing and investing activities

2018

$

2017

$

Purchase of subsidiary through
transfer of shares by Shareholder
Group 8 3,427,272 7,714,562

31 Share-based Payments

In the year ended 31 December 2018, the Group's only share based payments related to the acquisition of the
Business and Assets from PT. SAS International. Refer to Note 8 for further details. 

There were no other share based payments or options granted during the year.
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32 Events Occurring After the Reporting Date

On 30 January 2019, the shareholders resolved to issue 2,952,545 fully paid ordinary shares (Transferred Shares) to
PT. SAS International. To complete the acquisition of the business and assets from PT. SAS International, at 31
December 2018, a company shareholder (Shareholder Group) had transferred 2,954,545 fully paid ordinary shares to
PT SAS International by way of an off-market share transfer for a fair value of $3,427,272. Upon approval of the issue
of the shares at the Shareholders meeting on 30 January 2019, PT. SAS International transferred 2,954,545 fully paid
ordinary shares back to the Shareholder Group by way of off market transfer.

Except for the above, no other matters or circumstances have arisen since the end of the financial year which
significantly affected or could significantly affect the operations of the Group, the results of those operations, or the
state of affairs of the Group in future financial years.

33 Parent entity

The following information has been extracted from the books and records of the parent, SAPEX Group Limited and has
been prepared in accordance with Accounting Standards.

The financial information for the parent entity, SAPEX Group Limited has been prepared on the same basis as the
consolidated financial statements except as disclosed below.

Investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures

Investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint venture entities are accounted for at cost in the consolidated financial
statements of the parent entity. Dividends received from associates are recognised in the parent entity profit or loss,
rather than being deducted from the carrying amount of these investments.

2018

$

2017

$

Statement of Financial Position

Assets

Current assets 7,656,528 17,980

Non-current assets 7,066,330 3

Total Assets 14,722,858 17,983

Liabilities

Current liabilities 14,646,266 766,202

Non-current liabilities 2,377,211 83,113

Total Liabilities 17,023,477 849,315

Equity

Issued capital 192,864 192,864

Accumulated losses (2,839,686) (1,024,196)

Convertible instruments reserve 346,204 -

Total Equity (2,300,618) (831,332)

Statement of Profit or Loss and Other
Comprehensive Income

Total loss for the year (1,815,491) (1,024,196)

Total comprehensive income (1,815,491) (1,024,196)
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33 Parent entity (continued)

Contingent liabilities

The parent entity did not have any contingent liabilities as at 31 December 2018 or 31 December 2017.

Contractual commitments

The parent entity did not have any commitments as at 31 December 2018 or 31 December 2017.

34 Statutory Information

The registered office of the company is:

Level 5

126 Phillip Street

Sydney NSW 2000

The principal place of business is:

Level 28

1 Market Street 

Sydney NSW 2000
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The directors of the Company declare that:

1. the consolidated financial statements and notes for the year ended 31 December 2018 are in accordance with the
Corporations Act 2001 and:

a. comply with Accounting Standards, which, as stated in basis of preparation Note 1 to the consolidated financial
statements, constitutes explicit and unreserved compliance with International Financial Reporting Standards
(IFRS); and

b. give a true and fair view of the financial position and performance of the consolidated group;

2. the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Finance Officer have given the declarations required by Section 295A that:

a. the financial records of the Company for the financial year have been properly maintained in accordance with
section 286 of the Corporations Act 2001;

b. the consolidated financial statements and notes for the financial year comply with the Accounting Standards; and

c. the consolidated financial statements and notes for the financial year give a true and fair view.

3. In the directors opinion, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as and
when they become due and payable with the continuing support of creditors.

This declaration is made in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors.

Director ..................................................................

Peter Chambers

Director ..................................................................

Kyle Roy Kenneth Larson

Dated 4 April 2019
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 

TO THE MEMBERS OF SAPEX GROUP LIMITED  

Report on the Financial Report 

Opinion 
We have audited the accompanying financial report of SAPEX Group Limited (“the Group”), which 
comprises the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2018, the consolidated 
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in 
equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, notes comprising a summary 
of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information, and the directors’ declaration of the 
Company and the consolidated entity comprising the Company and the entities it controlled at the year’s 
end or from time to time during the financial year. 

In our opinion, the financial report of the Group is in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, including: 

i) Giving a true and fair view of the consolidated entity’s financial position as at 31 December 2018
and of its performance for the year ended on that date; and

ii) Complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001.

Basis for Opinion 
We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Those standards require that we 
comply with relevant ethical requirements relating to audit engagements and plan and perform the audit to 
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report is free from material misstatement. Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibility section of our 
report.  

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
opinion.  

Emphasis of Matter – Going Concern 

We draw our attention to Note 3(b) of the financial report, which describes management’s assessment of the 
entity’s ability to continue as a going concern. After recognising a loss after tax of $2,084,809, the entity is 
currently in a net liability position of $2,165,090. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter. 

Independence 
We are independent of the consolidated entity in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001 and the ethical 
requirements of the Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics for 
Professional Accountants (the code) that are relevant to our audit of the financial report in Australia. We 
have also fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. 

PKF(NS) Audit & Assurance Limited Partnership is a member firm of the PKF International Limited family of legally independent firms and does not 
accept any responsibility or liability for the actions or inactions of any individual member or correspondent firm or firms.
For office locations visit www.pkf.com.au

Sydney

Level 8, 1 O’Connell Street
Sydney NSW 2000 Australia�  
GPO Box 5446 Sydney NSW 2001�

p	 +61 2 8346 6000�� 
f	 +61 2 8346 6099

PKF(NS) Audit & Assurance Limited 
Partnership
ABN 91 850 861 839

Liability limited by a scheme 
approved under Professional 
Standards Legislation

Newcastle

755 Hunter Street�  
Newcastle West NSW 2302 Australia�  
PO Box 2368 Dangar NSW 2309

p	 +61 2 4962 2688 
f	 +61 2 4962 3245
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Key Audit Matters 
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our 
audit of the financial report of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit 
of the financial report as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate 
opinion on these matters. For each matter below, our description of how our audit addressed the matter is 
provided in that context. 

1. Going Concern

Why significant How our audit addressed the key audit matter 

As at 31 December 2018, the net liability 
position of the Group was $2,165,090 after 
recognising a loss in the current year of 
$2,084,809. Management has outlined 
circumstances in Note 3 (b) relating to the entity’s 
ability to continue as a going concern.  

The ability of the Group to pay its debts as they 
fall due is contingent on the realisation of cashflow 
forecasts based on revenues supported by the 
rental of Dura-base mats and the ongoing 
financial support of related parties. 

Given the significance and uncertainty of these 
circumstances we have considered this to be a 
Key Audit Matter.

Our work included, but was not limited to, the 
following procedures: 

• Reviewing managements financial statements
disclosure of the circumstances regarding
going concern;

• Assessing the completeness and accuracy of
the disclosed circumstances;

• Reviewing the terms of compound
instruments issued to effect the acquisitions,

• Reviewing the terms of the loan notes issued
to effect the acquisitions;

• Reviewing the underwriting agreements
regarding the related parties ongoing support
of working capital;

• Reviewing assumptions around cost base of
Dura-base mats and associated sales and
revenue forecasts compared to historical
trends; and

• Reviewing the directors and board approved
cashflow forecasts over the next 12 months.

2. Business combination, acquisition of a subsidiary

Why significant How our audit addressed the key audit matter 

As set out in Note 8 of the financial statements, 
during the year ended 31 December 2018, the 
Company acquired a 99% interest of PT SAPEX 
Servics Indonesia, an entity established in 
Indonesia for a cash consideration of $2,294,098. 

Acquisition accounting involves the recognition 
and measurement of identifiable assets and 
liabilities at their fair value. This process is 
inherently complex and requires a level of 
judgement and assumptions. 

Based on the above, we have determined that the 
accounting relating to the acquisition during the 
year represents a Key Audit Matter.

Our audit procedures included, but were not 
limited to: 

• Considering the Company’s assessment of the
application of AASB 3 Business Combinations;

• Assessing the methodology applied to
recognise the fair value of identifiable assets
and liabilities;

• Validating inputs of the components of the
business combinations to underlying support
including settlement contracts; and

• Reviewing the related financial statement
disclosures for the acquisition of the entity for
consistency with the relevant financial reporting
standard.
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3. Acquisition Accounting of Dura-Base mats business 
 

Why significant  How our audit addressed the key audit matter 

 
As set out in Note 8, on 31 December 2018, the 
Group completed an Asset Purchase agreement 
to acquire all Dura-Base assets and Dura-Base 
business from PT SAS International (SAS). 
 
The consideration paid by the Group was 
$12,288,336 which included the issuance of 2.95 
million of the Group’s shares. 
 
Acquisition accounting involves the recognition 
and measurement of identifiable assets and 
liabilities at their fair value. This process is 
inherently complex and requires a level of 
judgement and assumptions. 
 
Based on the above, we have determined that the 
accounting relating to the acquisition during the 
year represents a Key Audit Matter. 

 

 We have reviewed the following in relation to the 
mats acquisition: 
 
• Considering the Company’s assessment of 

the application of AASB 3 Business 
Combinations; 

• Assessing and challenging management’s 
judgements regarding the quantum of 
consideration paid and ensure that any 
goodwill has been appropriately capitalised; 

• Assessing impairment of goodwill recognised 
under the acquisition;  

• Assessing and challenging management’s 
judgements regarding the asset’s useful life; 
and 

• Reviewing the related financial statement 
disclosures for the acquisition of the entity for 
consistency with the relevant financial 
reporting standards. 

 
•  

Other Information 
Other information is financial and non-financial information in the annual report of the Group which is 
provided in addition to the Financial Report and the Auditor’s Report. The directors are responsible for Other 
Information in the annual report. 
 
The Other Information we obtained prior to the date of this Auditor’s Report was the Director’s report. The 
remaining Other Information is expected to be made available to us after the date of the Auditor’s Report. 
 
Our opinion on the Financial Report does not cover the Other Information and, accordingly, the auditor does 
not and will not express an audit opinion or any form of assurance conclusion thereon, with the exception of 
the Remuneration Report. 
  
In connection with our audit of the Financial Report, our responsibility is to read the Other Information. In 
doing so, we consider whether the Other Information is materially inconsistent with the Financial Report or 
our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. 
 
We are required to report if we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this Other Information in 
the Financial Report and based on the work we have performed on the Other Information that we obtained 
prior the date of this Auditor’s Report we have nothing to report. 
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Directors’ Responsibilities for the Financial Report 
The Directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the financial report that gives a true and 
fair view in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Act 2001 and for such 
internal control as the Directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the financial report that 
gives a true and fair view and is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.  In Note 1, 
the Directors also state, in accordance with Australian Accounting Standard AASB 101 Presentation of 
Financial Statements, that the financial report complies with International Financial Reporting Standards. 
 
In preparing the financial report, the Directors are responsible for assessing the consolidated entity’s ability 
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using a 
going concern basis of accounting unless the Directors either intend to liquidate the consolidated entity or to 
cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so. 
 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial report based on our audit.  Our objectives are to 
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole is free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue and auditor’s report that includes our opinion. 
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 
accordance with Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individual or in aggregate, they 
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of this 
financial report. 
 
As part of an audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards, we exercise professional judgement 
and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit.  
 
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 
financial report. 
 
The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including assessment of the risks of material 
misstatement of the financial report, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the 
auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation of the financial report that gives a true 
and fair view in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the 
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control.  
 
The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from 
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of 
internal control. 
 
An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness 
of accounting estimates made by the Directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial 
report. 
 
We conclude on the appropriateness of the Directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and, 
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions 
that may cast significant doubt on the consolidated entity’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we 
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the 
related disclosures in the financial report or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our 
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future 
events or conditions may cause the consolidated entity to cease to continue as a going concern. 
 



67 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report (cont’d) 
We evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial report, including the disclosures, 
and whether the financial report represents the underlying transactions and events in a manner that 
achieves fair presentation. We obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial 
information of the entities or business activities within the consolidated entity to express an opinion on the 
financial report. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the audit. We remain 
solely responsible for our audit opinion.  

We communicate with the Directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the 
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify 
during our audit.  

The Auditing Standards require that we comply with relevant ethical requirements relating to audit 
engagements. We also provide the Directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical 
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters 
that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.  

From the matters communicated with the Directors, we determine those matters that were of most 
significance in the audit of the financial report of the current period and are therefore key audit matters. We 
describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the 
matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated 
in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the 
public interest benefits of such communication.  

Report on the Remuneration Report 

Opinion 
We have audited the Remuneration Report included in the directors’ report for the year ended 31 December 
2018. In our opinion, the Remuneration Report of SAPEX Group Limited for the year ended 31 December 
2018, complies with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001.  

Responsibilities 
The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation and presentation of the Remuneration 
Report in accordance with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001. Our responsibility is to express an 
opinion on the Remuneration Report, based on our audit conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing 
Standards. 

PKF PAUL PEARMAN 
PARTNER 

4 APRIL 2019 
SYDNEY 



SAPEX Group Limited

Additional Information for Listed Public Companies
31 December 2018

NSX Additional Information

Additional information required by the NSX Listing Rules and not disclosed elsewhere in this report is set out below. This
information is effective as at 28 February 2019.

Substantial shareholders

The number of substantial shareholders and their associates are set out below:

Shareholders

Number of
shares

INDOMINES LIMITED 5,785,922

PT SAS INTERNATIONAL 2,954,545

KYLE LARSON 2,892,691

RON LARSON 2,892,691

QUARTERBACK CAPITAL HOLDINGS
LIMITED 1,954,545

Voting rights

Ordinary Shares 

On a show of hands, every member present at a meeting in person or by proxy shall have one vote and upon a poll each
share shall have one vote.

Options

No voting rights.

Distribution of equity security holders

Ordinary shares

Holding Holders Shares
% of issued

shares

1 - 1,000 2 2,000 0.01

1,001 - 5,000 261 766,090 3.11

5,001 - 10,000 52 382,379 1.72

10,001 - 100,000 40 1,290,946 5.80

100,000 and over 17 19,799,536 89.02

Total 372 22,240,951 100.00

There were Nil holders of less than a marketable parcel of ordinary shares.
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SAPEX Group Limited

Additional Information for Listed Public Companies
31 December 2018

Twenty largest shareholders

Ordinary shares

Number held
% of issued

shares

INDOMINES LIMITED 5,785,922 26.01

PT SAS INTERNATIONAL 2,954,545 13.28

KYLE LARSON 2,892,961 13.01

RON LARSON 2,892,961 13.01

QUARTERBACK CAPITAL HOLDINGS LIMITED 1,954,545 8.79

NEAL WATMOUGH 538,000 2.42

FG AGRI PTY LTD 513,755 2.31

DAVID MATHEWS 450,000 2.02

JAMES MIDGLEY <THE STOCKMANS
INVESTMENT A/C> 400,000 1.80

PETER VAN RATINGEN 250,000 1.12

DR CHRISTOPHER DAVID ATKINSON 200,316 0.90

EILEEN VAN RATINGEN 200,000 0.90

SONDANCE PTY LTD <JOLPET A/C> 200,000 0.90

FALCON CAPITAL LIMITED
<FG EMERGING COMPANIES A/C> 190,000 0.85

SALMON FAMILY HOLDINGS <SUPER FUND
A/C> 145,000 0.65

MR CHRISTOPER RICHARD JUN CARTER 121,531 0.55

MR ADAM THOMAS LEONARDI
<AT LEONARDI SUPER FUND A/C> 110,000 0.49

MR BASTIAN MICHAEL SAGLID 89,019 0.40

DANIEL EDWARD POWELL & JOANNE MARY
POWELL <D & J POWELL SUPER FUND A/C> 80,000 0.36

JOHN L ANDERSON AND ASSOCIATES PTY
LTD <J L ANDERSON & ASSOC SF A/C> 65,500 0.29

Unissued equity securities

There are 93 holders of unquoted convertible notes

There is 1 holder of unquoted detachable warrants.

Securities exchange

The Company is listed on the National Stock Exchange of Australia.
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